Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: March 17, 2014 ACCEPTED: April 8, 2014 PUBLISHED: May 5, 2014

Non-supersymmetric microstates of the MSW system

Souvik Banerjee,^{*a*} Borun D. Chowdhury,^{*b*} Bert Vercnocke^{*c*} and Amitabh Virmani^{*d*}

^a Centre for Theoretical Physics, University of Groningen,

Nijenborgh 4, Groningen, The Netherlands

^bDepartment of Physics, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona 85287, U.S.A.

^cInstitute of Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park, Postbus 94485, 1090 GL Amsterdam, Netherlands

^dInstitute of Physics, Sachivalaya Marg, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, 751005 India E-mail: souvik.banerjee@rug.nl, bdchowdh@asu.edu, bert.vercnocke@uva.nl, virmani@iopb.res.in

ABSTRACT: We present an analysis parallel to that of Giusto, Ross, and Saxena (arXiv:0708.3845) and construct a discrete family of non-supersymmetric microstate geometries of the Maldacena-Strominger-Witten system. The supergravity configuration in which we look for the smooth microstates is constructed using SO(4, 4) dualities applied to an appropriate seed solution. The SO(4, 4) approach offers certain technical advantages. Our microstate solutions are smooth in five dimensions, as opposed to all previously known non-supersymmetric microstates with AdS₃ cores, which are smooth only in six dimensions. The decoupled geometries for our microstates are related to global $AdS_3 \times S^2$ by spectral flows.

KEYWORDS: Black Holes in String Theory, String Duality

ArXiv ePrint: 1402.4212



Contents

| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
|--------------|---|----|
| 2 | Supergravity configuration | 3 |
| 3 | BPS limit | 6 |
| | 3.1 Five dimensions | 7 |
| | 3.2 M5-M5-M5 limit | 8 |
| 4 | Smooth solutions and regularity analysis | 9 |
| | 4.1 Global identifications | 10 |
| | 4.2 Regularity analysis | 11 |
| | 4.2.1 Corners | 11 |
| | 4.2.2 Closed timelike curves | 14 |
| | 4.2.3 Vectors and scalars | 14 |
| 5 | Decoupling limit | 15 |
| 6 | Discussion | 18 |
| \mathbf{A} | Construction of supergravity configuration | 20 |
| | A.1 Formalism briefly | 20 |
| | A.2 Giusto, Ross, and Saxena (GRS) configuration | 22 |
| | A.2.1 Seed configuration | 22 |
| | A.2.2 Adding magnetic charges | 27 |
| в | $\mathrm{SO}(4,4)/(\mathrm{SO}(2,2)	imes~\mathrm{SO}(2,2))$ coset in three dimensions | 28 |
| | B.1 Parametrization | 28 |
| | B.2 $SO(2,2) \times SO(2,2)$ generators | 29 |
| | | |

1 Introduction

Although string theory has made significant progress on counting the number of microstates responsible for black hole entropy [1], it has not yet given a satisfactory answer about their gravitational description. An outstanding open problem in the physics of black holes is to understand the gravitational description of such microstates. In the last decade or so, developments inspired by AdS/CFT and supergravity have offered us tools to explore these issues. The best studied example in this regard is the supersymmetric D1-D5 system.

Studies related to the D1-D5 system broadly fall into two parts: (i) those related to the five-dimensional black hole with 2-charges, and (ii) those related to the fivedimensional black hole with 3-charges. The gravitational description of the microstates of the 2-charge black hole has been explicitly constructed [2–9] and their entropy has been successfully accounted for [10, 11] (see also [12, 13]). However, since the horizon area of the corresponding black hole in the absence of higher-derivative corrections to supergravity is exactly zero, the true nature of the black hole entropy requires further exploration. See for instance references [14, 15] for discussions on this point. For the 3-charge black hole in five-dimensions, many explicit microstates are known $\begin{bmatrix} 16-22 \end{bmatrix}$. The gravitational description of these so-called 'microstate geometries' — smooth horizonless solutions in supergravity — is possible due to non-trivial topology and charges dissolved in magnetic fluxes, as recently highlighted in [23]. However, a detailed understanding of the space of solutions and the validity of the supergravity approximation in describing such states is still far from complete. Similar developments have been made for other systems as well. This collection of ideas go under the name of the "fuzzball" proposal [24]. We refer the reader to reviews [24-29] for detailed discussions and further references on these ideas.

The results mentioned above are all for supersymmetric black holes. It is an important and daunting task to extend the success of supersymmetric solutions to more general non-supersymmetric settings, in particular to non-extremal black holes. These are qualitatively different from supersymmetric solutions as now the black holes have non-zero temperature, so they Hawking radiate. Only a handful of solutions are known that can potentially describe appropriate non-supersymmetric microstates [30-33].¹ Among these the solutions of references [30-32] have near core $AdS_3 \times S^3$ regions. These geometries are smooth in six dimensions. A natural problem is to extend such studies to four-dimensional black holes (or five dimensional black strings). In the BPS setting some such analysis already exist [40]. A construction of non-supersymmetric microstates that are smooth in five dimensions has not been attempted.

In this paper we aim to find non-supersymmetric smooth solutions with core region as $AdS_3 \times S^2$. Our interest in $AdS_3 \times S^2$ arises from the fact that M-theory on $AdS_3 \times S^2 \times T^6$ is dual to a 1+1 dimensional Maldacena-Strominger-Witten (MSW) CFT [41]. MSW CFT is qualitatively different from the D1-D5 CFT. The previous studies of non-supersymmetric smooth solutions [30–32] have focused on the D1-D5 system. Our results establish the existence of non-supersymmetric microstate geometries in five dimensions that correspond to states in the MSW CFT. We expect that by adding further charges on our microstate geometries it should be possible to construct dual of MSW states that can potentially describe microstates of certain 4d black hole.

The MSW CFT has (4,0) supersymmetry and is much less understood than the D1-D5 CFT. We hope that through supergravity analysis like the one performed in this paper one can make some (at least qualitative) progress on understanding the nature of the MSW CFT. We base this expectation on the fruitful application of a bottom-up approach to the

¹There is a considerable body of work on extremal, non-supersymmetric smooth and non-smooth multi-center solutions, see e.g., [34–38], and reference [39] for a review. We do not consider solutions of these type in this paper.

D1-D5 system, in particular by considering microstate geometries. It was very instructive to consider the Maldacena-Maoz [3] solution and its various generalizations [16–19, 30]. Such studies improved our understanding of short and long string sectors, various twist sectors, and the orbifold nature of the D1-D5 CFT. Furthermore, the study of the non-BPS solutions of [30] led to the identification of their classical instability [42] with Bose-enhanced Hawking radiation [43]. A clear understanding of the similar issues for the MSW system is still lacking in the literature.

Unfortunately, there is no systematic way of going about finding new five-dimensional non-supersymmetric smooth solutions. We follow the same approach as [30, 31], where we first construct a suitable general family of supergravity configurations, and then find constraints on the parameters to obtain smooth solutions. As far as technicalities of our construction are concerned, our set-up is directly related to the set-up studied by Giusto, Ross, and Saxena (GRS) [31]. GRS study non-supersymmetric microstates of the D1-D5-KK system, which upon dimensional reduction over a circle and dualities is related to our set-up. Many details of our analysis are however different from theirs. In particular, details related to the study of the BPS limit, smoothness analysis, and decoupling limit differ. In addition we explicitly show that the decoupled geometries for our microstates are related to global $AdS_3 \times S^2$ by spectral flows and we also compute the corresponding conformal weights in the MSW CFT. The analog of this study in the context of D1-D5-KK CFT is missing in [31].

The rest of the paper is organised as follows. In section 2 we present a concise and selfcontained summary of the supergravity configuration we work with. A detailed construction of these fields is relegated to appendices A and B. In section 3.1 we discuss the BPS limit of the configuration presented in section 2 and discuss its smoothness. In section 3.2 we show how to obtain the (singular) M5-M5-M5 MSW black string limit. This M5-M5-M5 limit is precisely the "reverse process" of what Bena and Warner [20, 27] have called "geometric transition." In section 4 via a systematic search in the parameter space we find values of parameters at which all singularities can be removed. These solutions are specified by the three M5 charges, one M2 charge, and an integer parameter n. For n = 1 the solution reduces to the supersymmetric solution discussed in section 3. For all values n > 1 the solutions are non-supersymmetric. In this section we also perform a detailed regularity analysis, and show that this discrete family of solutions is free from curvature singularities, horizons, and closed time-like curves. We also show that all the matter fields are regular and that the metric is regular at what GRS call "corners." In section 5 we take a decoupling limit of the solution and exhibit $AdS_3 \times S^2$ as the near core geometry. In this section we also show that the decoupled geometries are related to global $AdS_3 \times S^2$ by spectral flows, and compute the corresponding conformal weights in the MSW CFT. We end in section 6 with a summary and a brief discussion of open problems.

2 Supergravity configuration

In this section we write the five-dimensional solution that will be the basis for the smooth microstates in the later parts of the paper. It is a solution of five-dimensional $U(1)^3$ supergravity, the so-called STU truncation of the maximal five-dimensional supergravity

where one keeps only two vector multiplets. This section is self-contained — we explicitly list all notation required to write the metric and the matter fields. Details of the construction of this configuration, including the uplift to IIB theory on a T^4 , can be found in appendices A and B.

We have in coordinates $(\rho, x = \cos \theta, \phi, t, z_5)$

$$ds_5^2 = f^2 (dz_5 + \check{A}^0_{[1]})^2 + f^{-1} ds_4^2, \qquad (2.1)$$

$$ds_4^2 = -e^{2U}(dt + \omega_3)^2 + e^{-2U}ds_3^2, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$ds_3^2 = \frac{F}{\Delta}d\rho^2 + \frac{F}{1-x^2}dx^2 + (1-x^2)\Delta d\phi^2,$$
(2.3)

where

$$f = \frac{\sqrt{AD}}{(\tilde{H}_2 \tilde{H}_3 (D + As_2^2 s_3^2 V_0^2))^{1/3}}, \qquad e^{2U} = \frac{F}{\sqrt{AD}}, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$F = \rho^2 + m^2 - b^2 x^2, \qquad \Delta = \rho^2 + m^2 - b^2. \qquad (2.5)$$

The various quantities appearing in these expressions are as follows

$$A = F + 2p \left[\rho + \frac{(pq - m^2)}{(p+q)} + b \frac{\sqrt{p^2 + m^2}\sqrt{q^2 + m^2}}{m(p+q)} x \right],$$
(2.6)

$$B = F + 2q \left[\rho + \frac{(pq - m^2)}{(p+q)} - b \frac{\sqrt{p^2 + m^2} \sqrt{q^2 + m^2}}{m(p+q)} x \right],$$
(2.7)

$$C = 2\frac{\sqrt{q}}{\sqrt{p+q}} \left[\sqrt{q^2 + m^2}(\rho + p) - q\frac{\sqrt{p^2 + m^2}}{m} bx \right],$$
 (2.8)

$$D = Bc_2^2c_3^2 - F(c_2^2s_3^2 + s_2^2c_3^2) + \frac{F^2}{B}s_2^2s_3^2 - \frac{C^2F}{AB}s_2^2s_3^2,$$
(2.9)

$$V_0 = -\frac{1}{A} \sqrt{\frac{q(q^2 + m^2)}{p(p^2 + m^2)}} \left[F + 2p \left(\rho + p + \frac{qb}{m} \sqrt{\frac{p^2 + m^2}{q^2 + m^2}} x \right) \right],$$
(2.10)

$$\tilde{H}_{2,3} = A + (A - G)s_{2,3}^2, \tag{2.11}$$

$$G = \frac{AF - C^2}{B},\tag{2.12}$$

where

$$s_{2,3} = \sinh \alpha_{2,3},$$
 $c_{2,3} = \cosh \alpha_{2,3}.$ (2.13)

The one-form $\check{A}^0_{[1]}$ is

$$\check{A}^{0}_{[1]} = \zeta_0(dt + \omega_3) + A^0_3, \tag{2.14}$$

$$\zeta_0 = c_2 c_3 s_2 s_3 \frac{CV_0}{D}, \qquad A_3^0 = s_2 s_3 \kappa_0^1, \qquad \omega_3 = c_2 c_3 \omega^0, \qquad (2.15)$$

where the three-dimensional one-forms are

$$\kappa_0^1 = \frac{2b\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}\left(1-x^2\right)}{m\sqrt{m^2+p^2}F} \left((p-q+\rho)m^2 + pq\rho\right)d\phi,$$
(2.16)

$$\omega^{0} = -\frac{2b\sqrt{p}\sqrt{q}\left(1-x^{2}\right)\left(m^{2}(p+q+\rho)-pq\rho\right)}{m(p+q)F}d\phi.$$
(2.17)

The five-dimensional vectors are

$$A^{I}_{[1]} = \chi^{I} (dz + \check{A}^{0}_{[1]}) + \check{A}^{I}_{[1]}, \qquad (2.18)$$

with

$$\chi_1 = -\frac{As_2 s_3 V_0}{D + As_2^2 s_3^2 V_0^2}, \qquad \chi_2 = -c_2 s_3 \frac{C}{\tilde{H}_3}, \qquad \chi_3 = -c_3 s_2 \frac{C}{\tilde{H}_2}, \qquad (2.19)$$

and the one-forms $\check{A}^{I}_{[1]}$ are

$$\check{A}^{I}_{[1]} = \zeta_{I}(dt + \omega_{3}) + A^{I}_{3}, \qquad (2.20)$$

with

$$\zeta_1 = c_2 c_3 \frac{C}{D}, \qquad \zeta_2 = s_2 c_3 (Bc_2^2 - Fs_2^2) \frac{V_0}{D}, \qquad \zeta_3 = s_3 c_2 (Bc_3^2 - Fs_3^2) \frac{V_0}{D}, \qquad (2.21)$$

and

$$A_3^1 = \omega^1, \qquad A_3^2 = -s_2 c_2 \kappa_0^0, \qquad A_3^3 = -s_3 c_3 \kappa_0^0. \qquad (2.22)$$

The remaining three-dimensional one-forms are

$$\omega^{1} = \frac{2\sqrt{p}}{\sqrt{p+q}F} \left[\sqrt{m^{2}+p^{2}}\Delta x - \frac{b\sqrt{m^{2}+q^{2}}}{m}(1-x^{2})(p\rho-m^{2}) \right] d\phi, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\kappa_0^0 = -\frac{2}{F}q \left[\Delta x + \sqrt{\frac{q^2 + m^2}{p^2 + m^2}} \frac{b}{m} (p\rho - m^2)(1 - x^2) \right] d\phi.$$
(2.24)

Finally, the five-dimensional $U(1)^3$ supergravity scalars are $h^I = y^I/f$ with

$$y_1 = \frac{\sqrt{AD}}{D + As_2^2 s_3^2 V_0^2}, \qquad \qquad y_2 = \frac{\sqrt{AD}}{\tilde{H}_3}, \qquad \qquad y_3 = \frac{\sqrt{AD}}{\tilde{H}_2}.$$
 (2.25)

The uplift of this rather complicated solution to six dimensions directly matches the configuration in [31]. The above solution is asymptotically flat in four dimensions. Physical quantities in four dimensions such as mass, angular momentum, electric and magnetic charges are (with four-dimensional Newton's constant take to be unity)

$$\mathcal{M} = \frac{1}{2} \left[p + q(1 + s_2^2 + s_3^2) \right], \qquad (2.26)$$

$$\mathcal{J} = b \frac{\sqrt{pq}(pq - m^2)}{m(p+q)} c_2 c_3, \qquad (2.27)$$

$$Q = \sqrt{\frac{q(q^2 + m^2)}{p + q}} c_2 c_3,$$
 (2.28)

$$\mathcal{P} = \sqrt{\frac{p(p^2 + m^2)}{p + q}},\tag{2.29}$$

$$Q_2 = qs_2c_2, \tag{2.30}$$

$$\mathcal{Q}_3 = q s_3 c_3, \tag{2.31}$$

where we use the notation $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}_2, \mathcal{Q}_3$ to denote the 3 magnetic (M5) charges and \mathcal{Q} to denote the electric (M2) charge.

3 BPS limit

In order to make contact with the previous literature related to the above configuration, let us consider the uplift to six dimensions and take the limit $m \to 0$ with various charges and angular momentum held fixed. This BPS limit allows us to connect rather directly to the five-dimensional analysis in the following.

In coordinates

$$\tilde{r} = \rho - bx, \qquad \qquad \tilde{x} = \frac{\rho x - b}{\rho - bx},$$
(3.1)

the metric in the BPS limit in the Bena-Warner [27] form is:²

$$ds_{6BPS}^2 = (Z_2 Z_3)^{-1/2} \left[-(dt+k)^2 + (dz_5 + \omega_P - k)^2 \right] + (Z_2 Z_3)^{1/2} ds_B^2, \qquad (3.2)$$

$$ds_{\rm B}^2 = V^{-1} (dz_6 + \vec{\chi})^2 + V \left(d\tilde{r}^2 + \tilde{r}^2 \frac{d\tilde{x}^2}{1 - \tilde{x}^2} + \tilde{r}^2 (1 - \tilde{x}^2) d\phi^2 \right).$$
(3.3)

Here Z_2, Z_3 , and V are harmonic functions on the three-dimensional flat base space spanned by $\tilde{r}, \tilde{x}, \phi$ coordinates; k and ω_P are one-forms on the four-dimensional Gibbons-Hawking base space spanned by $z_6, \tilde{r}, \tilde{x}, \phi$. From the IIB supergravity point of view, which is obtained by adding T⁴ to the six-dimensional uplift, $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{Q}_2, \mathcal{Q}_3$ respectively denote the BPS limits of KK monopole (z_6 as KK fibre), KK electric (z_6 direction), D1 (z_5 direction), and D5 (z_5 and four-torus directions) charges.

The expressions for the 1-forms are

$$k = \left(H_K + \frac{H_P}{2V}\right)(dz_6 + \vec{\chi}) + \vec{k}, \qquad \star_3 d\vec{k} = V dH_K - H_K dV - \frac{1}{2} dH_P, \qquad (3.4)$$

$$\omega_P = \frac{H_P}{V} (dz_6 + \vec{\chi}) + \vec{\omega}_P, \qquad \qquad \star_3 d\vec{\omega}_P = -dH_P, \qquad (3.5)$$

and the harmonic functions are^3

 $V = 1 + \frac{2\mathcal{P}}{\tilde{r}},$

$$Z_i = 1 + \frac{2\mathcal{Q}_i}{\Sigma}, \quad i = 2, 3, \tag{3.8}$$

$$H_K = -\frac{\mathcal{Q}}{2\mathcal{P}} \left(1 + \frac{2\mathcal{P}}{\Sigma} \right), \qquad \qquad H_P = \frac{\mathcal{Q}}{\mathcal{P}} + \frac{2\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3}{\mathcal{Q}} \left(\frac{1}{\tilde{r}} - \frac{1}{\Sigma} \right), \qquad (3.9)$$

with

$$\vec{\chi} = 2\mathcal{P}xd\phi, \qquad \Sigma = \sqrt{\tilde{r}^2 + 4b^2 + 4b\tilde{r}\tilde{x}}.$$
 (3.10)

²We have fixed a typo in the 6d BPS metric compared to [31]. The term $-(dt + k)^2$ in the metric is incorrectly typed in [31] as $-(dt - k)^2$.

 3 Upon KK reduction on z_{5} , the fields can be matched to a M2-M2-KKM system. In this frame, the Bena-Warner harmonic functions are

$$L_1 = 1,$$
 $L_2 = Z_2,$ $L_3 = Z_3,$ (3.6)
 $K^1 = H_P,$ $K^2 = K^3 = 0,$ $M = H_K,$ (3.7)

and the function V is same as in (3.8).

Integrations of (3.4) and (3.5) give

$$\vec{\omega}_P = \left[-\frac{2\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3}{\mathcal{Q}}x + \frac{2\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3}{\mathcal{Q}}\frac{1}{r_c}(rx+2b) \right] d\phi, \tag{3.11}$$

$$\vec{k} = \left[-\frac{\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}^2 + b(\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3 - \mathcal{Q}^2)x}{b\mathcal{Q}} + \frac{\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}^2(r+2bx) - b(\mathcal{Q}^2 - \mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3)(2b+rx)}{b\mathcal{Q}r_c} \right] d\phi, \quad (3.12)$$

and integrations of $\star_3 d\vec{Z}_i = dZ_i$ give

$$\vec{Z}_i = \frac{2\mathcal{Q}_i}{r_c}(rx+2b)d\phi.$$
(3.13)

A detailed regularity analysis of the above BPS solution is presented in [44], and is concisely summarized in [31]. We do not reproduce this analysis here.

3.1 Five dimensions

We reduce the above BPS solution to five-dimensions by performing KK reduction over z_6 . This new five-dimensional solution can also be written in the Bena-Warner [27] form. It simply corresponds to the BPS limit of configuration of section 2. We introduce a new set of coordinates

$$t = -v z_5 = -u + v. (3.14)$$

In these coordinates the metric is

$$ds_5^2 = -f^2(dv+k)^2 + f^{-1} \left[H_P^{-1} \left(du - \vec{\omega}_P \right)^2 + H_P \left(d\tilde{r}^2 + \tilde{r}^2 \frac{d\tilde{x}^2}{1 - \tilde{x}^2} + \tilde{r}^2 (1 - \tilde{x}^2) d\phi^2 \right) \right],$$
(3.15)

with $\star_3 d\vec{\omega}_P = -dH_P$. The one-form k is

$$k = \left[\frac{V(Z_2 Z_3 - H_K H_P)}{H_P^2} - \frac{1}{2}\right] (du - \vec{\omega}_P) - \vec{k} d\phi, \qquad (3.16)$$

and

$$f = \left[\frac{H_P^3}{V^2 Z_2 Z_3 (Z_2 Z_3 - 2H_K H_P)}\right]^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
(3.17)

The above metric can be realized in the Bena-Warner notation in an M5-M5-M5 frame with an M2 charge as

$$K^{1}_{BW} = V$$
 $K^{2}_{BW} = Z_{2}$ $K^{3}_{BW} = Z_{3}$ $V_{BW} = H_{P}$ (3.18)

$$L_{1,BW} = -2H_K$$
 $L_{2,BW} = 0$ $L_{3,BW} = 0$ $M_{BW} = -\frac{1}{2}$. (3.19)

We use the subscript "BW" to avoid confusion with the various other frames used above. The five-dimensional vectors in this Bena-Warner presentation are

$$A^{I} = -\frac{dt+k}{Z_{I,BW}} + \frac{K^{I}_{BW}}{V_{BW}}(du-\omega_{P}) + \vec{\xi}^{(I)}$$
(3.20)

where $\star_3 d\vec{\xi}^{(I)} = -dK^I_{BW}$, which can be integrated to

$$\xi^{(1)} = -2\mathcal{P}xd\phi, \qquad \qquad \xi^{(2)} = -\vec{Z}_2, \qquad \qquad \xi^{(3)} = -\vec{Z}_3, \qquad (3.21)$$

and where

$$Z_{I,BW} = \frac{1}{2} |\epsilon_{IJK}| \frac{K_{BW}^J K_{BW}^K}{V_{BW}} + L_{I,BW}.$$
 (3.22)

The scalars are simply

$$h^{I} = \frac{(Z_{1,BW}Z_{2,BW}Z_{3,BW})^{\frac{1}{3}}}{Z_{I,BW}}.$$
(3.23)

Note in particular that $V_{BW} = H_P$ and hence the Gibbons-Hawking base for the fivedimensional BPS solution has two centers, see equation (3.9).

Regularity analysis. A regularity analysis proceeds along the same lines as for the 6d metric as in [44] and [31].

• For the smoothness of the 5d metric we must ensure that k is a smooth 1-form on the base space: it must vanish at $\tilde{r} = 0$ and $\Sigma = 0$ where the harmonic function V_{BW} diverges. Requiring this (more precisely $k_u = 0$) fixes the distance between the two-centers to be

$$b = \frac{2\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}^2}{\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3 - \mathcal{Q}^2}.$$
(3.24)

• The requirement that the *u*-circle smoothly shrinks to zero size at $\tilde{r} = 0$ and at $\Sigma = 0$ fixes the identification $u \sim u + 2\pi\Delta u$ and hence also the radius R_u of the *u*-circle at infinity

$$\Delta u = \frac{4Q_2Q_3}{Q}, \qquad R_u = \frac{4Q_2Q_3\mathcal{P}^{\frac{2}{3}}}{\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{P}^2 + \mathcal{Q}^2)^{\frac{1}{3}}}.$$
 (3.25)

This concludes the BPS limit of the five-dimensional solution.

3.2 M5-M5-M5 limit

Now let us consider taking the limit where the two centres become coincident, while keeping the 3 M5 charges fixed. In this limit we see from (3.24) that the M2 charge disappears. Thus, we expect to recover a (singular) MSW black string with only M5 charges. We now examine how this limit is achieved.

We start by noting that the Bena-Warner class of solutions have the following symmetry:

$$t' = \lambda t,$$
 $\psi' = \psi/\lambda,$ $V' = V/\lambda,$ (3.26)

$$L'_I = \lambda L_I \qquad \qquad K^{I\prime} = K^I, \qquad \qquad M' = \lambda^2 M. \tag{3.27}$$

Under these rescalings the one-form k, $\vec{\chi}$, etc. scale appropriately so that the full metric remains invariant.

We rescale the Bena-Warner smooth solution with $\lambda = \frac{Q}{P}$ and then take the limit $Q \to 0$. The full five-dimensional metric in the rescaled coordinates becomes

$$ds^{2} = -(K^{1}K^{2}K^{3})^{-4/3}(dt'+k)^{2} + (K^{1}K^{2}K^{3})^{2/3}ds^{2}_{\text{base}}$$
(3.28)

$$k = (K^1 K^2 K^3) d\psi', (3.29)$$

where the base space metric takes the form

$$ds_{\text{base}}^2 = d\psi'^2 + (ds_3^2)_{\text{flat}}, \qquad (3.30)$$

Writing in terms of the original coordinates we get

$$ds^{2} = -2(K^{1}K^{2}K^{3})^{-1/3}dtd\psi + (K^{1}K^{2}K^{3})^{2/3}(ds_{3}^{2})_{\text{flat}},$$
(3.31)

which is precisely the metric of the M5-M5-M5 black string in the double null coordinates.

The reader may wonder how a limit of a smooth solution gives rise to a (singular) black string. The answer lies in the fact that the limiting black string is of zero-entropy. This is precisely the "reverse process" of what Bena and Warner [20, 27] have called "geometric transition." In their set-up a zero entropy black string goes into a 2-center smooth solution via nucleation of Gibbons-Hawking centres. In our set-up when we take the limit of centres to be coincident we recover the singular black string metric.

4 Smooth solutions and regularity analysis

Now we want to explore whether there are any smooth solutions in the family of five-dimensional metrics we have constructed. We follow the same reasoning as [31]. By inspection we can see that the metric has potential singularities at $\tilde{H}_2 = 0, \tilde{H}_3 = 0, A = 0, D = 0, \Delta = 0, F = 0, B = 0, (D + As_2^2s_3^2V_0^2) = 0$, and $x = \pm 1$. We will focus on the singularity at $\Delta = 0$ and will try to interpret it as a smooth origin. The singularities at $x = \pm 1$ are like the usual coordinate singularities arising from the degeneration of azimuthal coordinate at the poles of the two-sphere. The analysis of the $x = \pm 1$ singularities will require appropriate identifications, which will be discussed later. We expect other singularities to be true curvature singularities, so we will arrange parameters in the smooth solutions such that $\tilde{H}_2, \tilde{H}_3, A, D, F, B > 0$ everywhere. Moreover we require the identifications of u and ϕ to lie in a surface of constant v (see equation (3.14)).

It turns out that in performing the analysis outlined in the previous paragraph, there are no changes compared to what is already done in [31]. We will see that our analysis starts to differ from the next subsection. For brevity we do not write all equations again, and present only the most relevant details. Interpreting $\Delta = 0$ at $\rho = \rho_0$ as a smooth origin, where a spatial direction goes to zero size, we need

$$\rho_0 = \sqrt{b^2 - m^2} = \frac{m^2(p+q)}{pq - m^2},\tag{4.1}$$

which implies

$$b^{2} = \frac{m^{2} \left(m^{2} + p^{2}\right) \left(m^{2} + q^{2}\right)}{\left(pq - m^{2}\right)^{2}}.$$
(4.2)

We will always work with the positive square-root for (4.2). It can be checked that no other singularities are encountered in the region $\rho > \rho_0, -1 \le x \le 1$ as $\tilde{H}_2, \tilde{H}_3, A, D, F, B$ are all strictly positive.⁴

Therefore, we conclude that when constraint (4.2) is satisfied, the only singularities in the metric are at (i) $\rho = \rho_0$, (ii) x = +1, and (iii) x = -1. Each of these singularities is a degeneration of a spatial cycle in the (u, ϕ) part of the metric. We now turn to an analysis of these singularities.

4.1 Global identifications

We want to find the global identifications in (u, ϕ) space that yield a smooth metric. We investigate the three singularities one by one. We write the general Killing vector in the (u, ϕ) space as

$$\xi = \partial_{\phi} - \alpha \partial_{u}, \tag{4.3}$$

where the choice

$$\alpha = -s_2 s_3 \kappa_{0,\phi}^1, \tag{4.4}$$

ensures the vanishing of the norm $\xi \cdot \xi$ of the Killing vector at the following one-cycle degeneracies:

Degeneracy I (x = +1). For x = +1, $F = \Delta$, $\omega^0 = 0$ and $\kappa^1_{0,\phi} = 0$. Hence $\alpha = 0$. We note that locally the relevant part of the metric looks like (up to an over-all constant)

$$\frac{dx^2}{1-x^2} + (1-x^2)d\phi^2,\tag{4.5}$$

that says that ϕ has to have a period of 2π . Hence the identification required for obtaining a smooth origin is at x = +1

$$(u,\phi) \sim (u,\phi+2\pi).$$
 (4.6)

Degeneracy II (x = -1). For x = -1 the discussion is identical to the x = +1 case. Again, $F = \Delta$, $\omega^0 = 0$ and $\kappa^1_{0,\phi} = 0$ and hence $\alpha = 0$. The metric is locally flat yielding the identification of ϕ to be (4.6).

Degeneracy III ($\rho = \rho_0$). At $\rho = \rho_0$, $F = b^2(1 - x^2)$, $\omega^0 = 0$ and $\kappa_{0,\phi}^1 = \frac{4q\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}}{\sqrt{q^2+m^2}}$. Hence, $\alpha = -4s_2s_3\frac{q\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}}{\sqrt{q^2+m^2}}$. Therefore, the relevant circle is along ϕ at fixed $u - 4s_2s_3\frac{q\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}}{\sqrt{q^2+m^2}}\phi$. The leading contribution (of order $(\rho - \rho_0)$) to the non-zero size of the circle away from $\rho = \rho_0$ comes only from the term $\frac{\Delta}{F}(1 - x^2)d\phi^2$ in the metric. Defining a new coordinate Z as $\rho = \rho_0(1 + 2Z^2)$, the relevant part of the metric becomes

$$\frac{4}{\rho_0} (\tilde{H}_2 \tilde{H}_3 (D + As_2^2 s_3^2 V_0^2))^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(dZ^2 + Z^2 \frac{\rho_0^2}{b^2} d\phi^2 \right).$$
(4.7)

⁴Showing that D is positive is quite non-trivial. In [31] it is shown that D > 0 by an indirect argument by first showing that the geometry has no closed timelike curves. See also section 4.2.2 below.

From this we note that ϕ must be periodic with periodicity $2\pi n$ where $n = \frac{b}{\rho_0}$. Hence, the identification in this case is:

$$(u,\phi) \sim (u + 8\pi n s_2 s_3 q \frac{\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}}{\sqrt{q^2 + m^2}}, \phi + 2n\pi).$$
 (4.8)

Upon KK reduction over u we expect to obtain a four-dimensional asymptotically flat geometry, so ϕ must have periodicity 2π . Hence given the identification (4.8) we obtain another constraint on the parameters (in addition to (4.2)) that

$$n = \frac{b}{\rho_0} \tag{4.9}$$

must be an integer. Thus, our smooth solutions are characterized by five parameters, which we can take to be the three magnetic charges, one electric charge and the integer n. This counting works as follows: in our supergravity configurations we have six parameters $(p, q, m, b, \alpha_2, \alpha_3)$ and we have one constraint (4.2) and one relation (4.9).

4.2 Regularity analysis

In this section we present a detailed regularity analysis of the smooth solutions found in the previous section.

4.2.1 Corners

From the analysis presented in section 4.1, it follows that the discrete family of solutions is smooth at $\rho = \rho_0$ or at $x = \pm 1.5$ However, from that analysis it is not clear what happens at the 'corners' [31], where $\rho = \rho_0$ and $x = \pm 1$. In this section we introduce explicit coordinates and show that the eleven-dimensional geometry is smooth near these points as well.

Corner 1. Let us consider the first corner $\rho = \rho_0$, x = +1. We start by defining new coordinates

$$\tilde{r} = (\rho - \rho_0) + \rho_0 (1 - x), \tag{4.10}$$

$$\tilde{x} = (1+x) \left\lfloor \frac{\rho - \rho_0}{\tilde{r}} \right\rfloor - 1, \qquad (4.11)$$

with the property that $\rho = \rho_0$, x = +1 is at $\tilde{r} = 0$, with $\rho = \rho_0$, $x \neq 1$ along $\tilde{x} = -1$, and $\rho \neq \rho_0$, x = +1 along $\tilde{x} = +1$. The inverse relation for these coordinates is

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sqrt{\tilde{r}^2 + 4\tilde{r}\tilde{x}\rho_0 + 4\rho_0^2} + \tilde{r} \right), \qquad (4.12)$$

$$x = \frac{1}{2\rho_0} \left(\sqrt{\tilde{r}^2 + 4\tilde{r}\tilde{x}\rho_0 + 4\rho_0^2} - \tilde{r} \right),$$
(4.13)

⁵Recall that throughout this paper we are using the coordinate x in place of the azimuthal coordinate θ on the two-sphere. The two are simply related by $x = \cos \theta$.

which is of direct use for the computations below. Near $\tilde{r} = 0$, the factor $\frac{fe^{2U}}{F}$ goes as a constant. For this reason we consider the following scaled metric

$$\frac{fe^{2U}}{F}ds_5^2 = \frac{f^3e^{2U}}{F} \left(-du + dv + s_2s_3\kappa_0^1 d\phi + c_2c_3s_2s_3\frac{CV_0}{D}(-dv + c_2c_3\omega^0 d\phi) \right)^2 + \frac{dx^2}{1-x^2} + \frac{d\rho^2}{\Delta} + (1-x^2)\frac{\Delta}{F}d\phi^2 - \frac{e^{4U}}{F}(-dv + c_2c_3\omega^0 d\phi)^2.$$
(4.14)

In the limit $\tilde{r} \to 0$ various pieces in the last two terms of the above metric have the following limiting behavior

$$\frac{e^{4U}}{F} \approx \text{constant} \tag{4.15}$$

$$\omega_0 \approx \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}) \tag{4.16}$$

$$(1-x^2)\frac{\Delta}{F} = \frac{(1-\tilde{x}^2)\tilde{r}}{(1+\tilde{x}+n^2(1-\tilde{x}))\rho_0} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^2).$$
(4.17)

From these expressions we see that (i) the size of the v direction remains finite as we zoom near the first corner, (ii) all contributions from the ω_0 terms can be ignored, as they are subleading.

Now let us examine the first line of the scaled metric (4.14). After some computation we note that

$$\frac{f^3 e^{2U}}{F} = \frac{(1+\tilde{x}+n^2(1-\tilde{x}))(p+\rho_0-n^2\rho_0)^2}{16(n^2-1)^2 s_2^2 s_3^2 \rho_0^2 (p+\rho_0)^3} \tilde{r} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^2)$$
(4.18)

$$\frac{CV_0}{D} \approx \mathcal{O}(1). \tag{4.19}$$

Thus we see that from the first line of the scaled metric (4.14) only the following piece is relevant near the corner

$$\frac{f^3 e^{2U}}{F} \left(-du + s_2 s_3 \kappa_0^1 d\phi\right)^2.$$
(4.20)

The limiting value of κ_0^1 near the corner is

$$\kappa_0^1 = \frac{4n\left(n^2 - 1\right)\left(1 - \tilde{x}\right)\left(p + \rho_0\right)\sqrt{\rho_0(p + \rho_0)}}{\left(1 + \tilde{x} + n^2(1 - \tilde{x})\right)\left(p + \rho_0 - n^2\rho_0\right)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\tilde{r}\right),\tag{4.21}$$

Now a straightforward (if somewhat tedious) computation shows that

$$\frac{f^{3}e^{2U}}{F}\left(-du + s_{2}s_{3}\kappa_{0}^{1}d\phi\right)^{2} + \frac{dx^{2}}{1-x^{2}} + \frac{d\rho^{2}}{\Delta} + (1-x^{2})\frac{\Delta}{F}d\phi^{2} \approx \frac{1}{2\rho_{0}\tilde{r}}\left[d\tilde{r}^{2} + \tilde{r}^{2}\frac{d\tilde{x}^{2}}{1-\tilde{x}^{2}} + \frac{\tilde{r}^{2}}{2n^{2}}(1+\tilde{x})\left(d\phi + \frac{d\hat{u}}{2\mathcal{P}}\right)^{2} + \frac{\tilde{r}^{2}}{2}(1-\tilde{x})\left(d\phi - \frac{d\hat{u}}{2\mathcal{P}}\right)^{2}\right], \quad (4.22)$$

where the new coordinate \hat{u} is

$$\hat{u} = \frac{1}{d_1}u + \frac{d_2}{d_1}\phi, \tag{4.23}$$

with the constants d_1 and d_2 given as

$$d_1 = ps_2 s_3 \frac{(n^2 - 1)(p + \rho_0)\sqrt{\rho_0(p + \rho_0)}}{n(p(p + \rho_0 - n^2\rho_0))^{3/2}},$$
(4.24)

$$d_2 = -2ps_2s_3 \frac{(n^2 - 1)(p + \rho_0)\sqrt{\rho_0(p + \rho_0)}}{n(p(p + \rho_0 - n^2\rho_0))}.$$
(4.25)

The identification (4.8) becomes

$$(\hat{u}, \phi) \sim (4\pi n\mathcal{P}, 2\pi n). \tag{4.26}$$

Now, if we define $\tilde{r} = R^2$, $\tilde{x} = 2\hat{x}^2 - 1$, and

$$\psi_1 = \frac{1}{2} \left(\phi - \frac{\hat{u}}{2\mathcal{P}} \right), \qquad \qquad \psi_2 = \frac{1}{2n} \left(\phi + \frac{\hat{u}}{2\mathcal{P}} \right), \qquad (4.27)$$

the metric (4.22) becomes the standard metric on \mathbb{R}^4 , while the identifications (4.6) and (4.26) become respectively $\psi_1 \sim \psi_1 + 2\pi$, $\psi_2 \sim \psi_2 + 2\pi$. Thus the local geometry near the first corner is globally \mathbb{R}^4 , and hence smooth. The five-dimensional scalars of the U(1)³ supergravity have finite non-zero limiting values, hence the eleven dimensional geometry is also smooth near the corner.

Corner 2. Now let us consider the second corner $\rho = \rho_0$, x = -1. Again we start by defining new coordinates

$$\tilde{r} = (\rho - \rho_0) + \rho_0 (1 + x), \tag{4.28}$$

$$\tilde{x} = (1-x) \left\lfloor \frac{\rho - \rho_0}{\tilde{r}} \right\rfloor - 1.$$
(4.29)

In these coordinates $\rho = \rho_0$, x = -1 is at $\tilde{r} = 0$, with $\rho = \rho_0$, $x \neq -1$ along $\tilde{x} = -1$, and $\rho \neq \rho_0$, x = -1 along $\tilde{x} = +1$. The inverse relation for these coordinates is

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2} \left(\sqrt{\tilde{r}^2 + 4\tilde{r}\tilde{x}\rho_0 + 4\rho_0^2} + \tilde{r} \right), \tag{4.30}$$

$$x = -\frac{1}{2\rho_0} \left(\sqrt{\tilde{r}^2 + 4\tilde{r}\tilde{x}\rho_0 + 4\rho_0^2} - \tilde{r} \right), \qquad (4.31)$$

which we can use below. Near $\tilde{r} = 0$, the factor $\frac{fe^{2U}}{F}$ again goes as a constant. For this reason we again consider the scaled metric (4.14). In the limit $\tilde{r} \to 0$ various pieces in the last two terms of the scaled metric have the following limiting behavior

$$\frac{e^{4U}}{F} \approx \text{constant} \tag{4.32}$$

$$\omega_0 \approx \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}) \tag{4.33}$$

$$(1-x^2)\frac{\Delta}{F} = \frac{(1-\tilde{x}^2)\tilde{r}}{(1+\tilde{x}+n^2(1-\tilde{x}))\rho_0} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{r}^2).$$
(4.34)

From these expressions we see that (i) the size of the v direction remains finite as we zoom near the first corner, (ii) all contributions from the ω_0 terms can be ignored, as they give subleading contributions.

The rest of the analysis proceeds exactly the same way as for the first corner. We conclude that the local geometry near the second corner is globally \mathbb{R}^4 , and hence smooth. The five-dimensional scalars of the U(1)³ supergravity also have finite non-zero limiting values, hence the eleven dimensional geometry is also smooth near the second corner.

4.2.2 Closed timelike curves

In the (u, v) coordinates introduced in equation (3.14) we verify the absence of closed timelike curves for the five-dimensional metric. We do this by showing that v is a global time function, which requires $g^{vv} < 0$ everywhere. The vv component of the five-dimensional inverse metric is

$$g^{vv} = -\frac{f}{e^{2U}} + \frac{fe^{2U}}{\Delta(1-x^2)} c_2^2 c_3^2 (\omega_\phi^0)^2.$$
(4.35)

To show that this quantity is negative, we rewrite it as (after substituting the values for e^{2U} and f)

$$g^{vv} = \frac{1}{(\tilde{H}_2 \tilde{H}_3 (D + As_2^2 s_3^2 V_0^2))^{1/3}} \left[-\frac{AD}{F} + \frac{F}{\Delta (1 - x^2)} c_2^2 c_3^2 (\omega_\phi^0)^2 \right].$$
(4.36)

From the analysis of section 5.3 of [31] it follows that the quantity in the square brackets is negative. Since that analysis applies as it is to our case, we do not present any details on this, and refer the reader to that reference. We note two minor typos in section 5.3 of [31]

- 1. A factor of 4 missing in their equation (5.47): term involving J^2 should read, $-4BJ^2(\rho - \rho_0)^2 \sin^2 \theta$.
- 2. In equation (5.65) tilde on c_2 should not be there; the left-hand side should be $c_2(-1)$.

Now it remains to show that the overall prefactor in equation (4.36) is positive. From previous sections we already know that \tilde{H}_2 , \tilde{H}_3 , F, Δ , and A are all positive for $\rho > \rho_0$. Since the quantity in the square parenthesis in equation (4.36) is negative, it follows that D > 0. Hence it follows that the prefactor in equation (4.36) is positive.

4.2.3 Vectors and scalars

The scalars h^{I} are regular and positive everywhere, including at the 'corners' where $\rho = \rho_0$ and $x = \pm 1$.

The vectors of the solution have potential singularities where various cycles degenerate. To analyse this let us note that at the different degeneration points the various one-forms appearing in the solution are

$$x = +1: \qquad \omega_{\phi}^{0} = 0, \qquad \omega_{\phi}^{1} = +2\mathcal{P}, \qquad \kappa_{0,\phi}^{0} = -2q, \qquad \kappa_{0,\phi}^{1} = 0, \tag{4.37}$$

$$x = -1: \qquad \omega_{\phi}^{0} = 0, \qquad \omega_{\phi}^{1} = -2\mathcal{P}, \qquad \kappa_{0,\phi}^{0} = +2q, \qquad \kappa_{0,\phi}^{1} = 0, \tag{4.38}$$

$$\rho = \rho_0: \qquad \omega_{\phi}^0 = 0, \qquad \omega_{\phi}^1 = -2\mathcal{P}, \qquad \kappa_{0,\phi}^0 = -2q, \qquad \kappa_{0,\phi}^1 = 4q \frac{\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}}{\sqrt{q^2+m^2}}. \tag{4.39}$$

The gauge fields along the degenerating direction are regular only if the integrals around the degenerating cycles can be made zero by a (possibly) large gauge transformation. These integrations are

$$\oint_{\phi} (\xi \cdot A^{I})|_{x=+1} = 2\pi (+2\mathcal{P}, +2s_{2}c_{2}q, +2s_{3}c_{3}q), \qquad (4.40)$$

$$\oint_{\phi} (\xi \cdot A^{I})|_{x=-1} = 2\pi (-2\mathcal{P}, -2s_{2}c_{2}q, -2s_{3}c_{3}q), \qquad (4.41)$$

$$\oint_{\phi} (\xi \cdot A^{I})|_{\rho=\rho_{0}} = 2\pi (-2\mathcal{P}, +2s_{2}c_{2}q, +2s_{3}c_{3}q).$$
(4.42)

These integrals simply denote non-trivial Wilson lines in the limits when the respective cycles degenerate. The non-zero values of these integrals can all be removed by appropriate *large* gauge transformations; they represent the usual behaviour of the gauge field at the location of a magnetic monopole. Moreover, the first of these equations (4.40) can be related to the second (4.41) by a large gauge transformation consistent with the Dirac quantization of magnetic charges on the two-sphere spanned by (x, ϕ) .

In this sense all matter fields are regular (or can be made regular) by appropriate large gauge transformations.

5 Decoupling limit

We already know from [31] that the six-dimensional lift of the solution that we have constructed qualitatively looks like a smooth D1-D5 solution sitting at the tip of the Kaluza-Klein monopole. This explains why the decoupling limit in six-dimensions gives an $AdS_3 \times S^3$ geometry, as shown in [31]. Upon dualities the 'six-dimensional' D1-D5-KKM system can be related to the 'five-dimensional' M5-M5-M5 system. Therefore, from the five-dimensional solution studied in this paper, we expect a decoupling limit where we obtain an $AdS_3 \times S^2$ geometry. In this section we exhibit this.

As in the previous studies [30, 31] obtaining a decoupling limit requires us to scale some charges in a way such that we go close to extremality. More precisely, one is required to take the so-called dilute gas limit from the point of view of the dual CFT. This is achieved by taking $\rho_0 \rightarrow 0$, while keeping the three magnetic charges fixed. As we take this limit, we also change coordinates so as to zoom in on the core region by setting

$$\rho = \rho_0 r, \tag{5.1}$$

$$u = \frac{2\chi}{d\sqrt{\rho_0}},\tag{5.2}$$

$$v = \frac{\tau}{d\sqrt{\rho_0}},\tag{5.3}$$

and keeping r, χ , and τ fixed. In equations (5.2) and (5.3) d is a constant

$$d = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3}}.\tag{5.4}$$

In this limit the metric becomes an $AdS_3 \times S^2$ geometry. This can be made explicit by introducing further new coordinates

$$r = 1 + 2R^2, (5.5)$$

$$x = \cos \theta, \tag{5.6}$$

$$\tilde{\tau} = \frac{\tau}{2},\tag{5.7}$$

$$\varphi = \chi - \frac{\tau}{2},\tag{5.8}$$

in terms of which the near core metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = \ell_{\text{AdS}}^{2} \left(-(1+R^{2})d\tilde{\tau}^{2} + \frac{dR^{2}}{1+R^{2}} + R^{2}d\varphi^{2} \right) + \ell_{\text{S}^{2}}^{2} \left(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta (d\phi + n(d\tilde{\tau} - d\varphi))^{2} \right).$$
(5.9)

where

$$\ell_{\rm AdS} = 4(\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3)^{1/3}, \qquad \ell_{\rm S^2} = 2(\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}_2\mathcal{Q}_3)^{1/3}.$$
 (5.10)

The scalars are constant in this limit. They take their 'attractor values'

$$h^{1} = \frac{\mathcal{P}}{(\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{3})^{1/3}}, \qquad h^{2} = \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{2}}{(\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{3})^{1/3}}, \qquad h^{3} = \frac{\mathcal{Q}_{3}}{(\mathcal{P}\mathcal{Q}_{2}\mathcal{Q}_{3})^{1/3}},$$
 (5.11)

and the vectors in the decoupling limit are

$$A_{\text{decoupling}}^{1} = -2n\mathcal{P}d\chi + 2\mathcal{P}x(d\phi + nd\tilde{\tau} - nd\varphi), \qquad (5.12)$$

$$A_{\text{decoupling}}^2 = +2n\mathcal{Q}_2 d\chi + 2\mathcal{Q}_2 x (d\phi + nd\tilde{\tau} - nd\varphi), \qquad (5.13)$$

$$A_{\text{decoupling}}^3 = +2n\mathcal{Q}_3 d\chi + 2\mathcal{Q}_3 x (d\phi + nd\tilde{\tau} - nd\varphi).$$
(5.14)

The identifications (4.6) and (4.8) respectively become

$$(\varphi, \phi) \sim (\varphi, \phi + 2\pi),$$
 (5.15)

$$(\varphi, \phi) \sim (\varphi + 2\pi, \phi + 2n\pi).$$
 (5.16)

Hence geometry of the decoupled solution is global AdS_3 .

The above expressions fit into the (generic) asymptotic behaviour of fields analysed in [40]. Our decoupled geometry is obtained by taking a decoupling limit of a non-BPS solution. For this reason the CFT analysis of [40], which is done for BPS states, cannot be taken over directly. Instead we should view our states as excitations above those studied in [40]. From the above $AdS_3 \times S^2$ geometry we can read off the CFT quantum numbers of the dual state. In the following we present such an analysis.

Let us start by recalling the integer quantization of M2 and M5 charges. If we normalize the charges in the five-dimensional KK setting (asymptotically $\mathbb{R}^{3,1} \times S^1$) as

$$P^{I} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{S^{2}} F^{I}, \qquad Q_{I} = \frac{1}{16\pi G_{5}} \int_{S^{2} \times S^{1}} (h^{I})^{-2} \star_{5} F^{I}, \qquad (5.17)$$

where the integrals are calculated at spatial infinity, then the integer quantizations are [45]

$$n^{I} = \left(\frac{\pi}{4G_{5}}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} P^{I}, \qquad N_{I} = \left(\frac{4G_{5}}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} Q_{I}.$$
 (5.18)

Note that the central charge is

$$c = \frac{3\ell_{\text{AdS}}}{2G_3} = 6n^1 n^2 n^3 = D_{IJK} n^I n^J n^K, \qquad (5.19)$$

where $D_{IJK} = |\epsilon_{IJK}|$. Furthermore we find

$$N_1 = nn^2 n^3, N_2 = 0, N_3 = 0.$$
 (5.20)

We can now use the results from [40] to compute contributions to the left and right sector conformal weights from the gravitational sector, the U(1) charges, and the SU(2) sector. Recall that the SU(2) sector arises upon dimensional reduction to AdS_3 , and corresponds to angular momentum in four dimensions.

The gravitational contributions comes just from the Casimir energy of the cylinder dual to global AdS_3

$$L_0^{\rm grav} = \bar{L}_0^{\rm grav} = -\frac{n^1 n^2 n^3}{4}.$$
 (5.21)

The SU(2) charge contributes only to the left sector and is given in terms of the SU(2) current

$$L_0^{\rm SU(2)} = \frac{J^2}{4n^1 n^2 n^3}.$$
(5.22)

The U(1) currents are proportional to the M2 charges. We have

$$J_I = N_I. (5.23)$$

They contribute to the energy in both the left and the right sector. To write this succinctly it is convenient to define

$$(D^+)^{IJ} = \frac{n^I n^J}{12n^1 n^2 n^3}, \qquad (D^-)^{IJ} = D^{IJ} - (D^+)^{IJ}.$$
 (5.24)

where $D^{IJ} = (D_{IJK}n^K)^{-1}$. Then the contributions to the conformal weights are

$$L_0^{\mathrm{U}(1)} = (D^+)^{IJ} J_I J_J, \qquad (5.25)$$

$$\bar{L}_0^{\mathrm{U}(1)} = -(D^-)^{IJ} J_I J_J.$$
(5.26)

The total weights are simply the sum of these three contributions⁶

$$L_0 = -\frac{n^1 n^2 n^3}{4} + (D^+)^{IJ} J_I J_J + \frac{J^2}{4n^1 n^2 n^3},$$
(5.27)

$$= -\frac{n^{1}n^{2}n^{3}}{4} + \frac{(n)^{2}n^{1}n^{2}n^{3}}{3},$$
(5.28)

$$\bar{L}_0 = -\frac{n^1 n^2 n^3}{4} - (D^-)^{IJ} J_I J_J, \qquad (5.29)$$

$$= -\frac{n^{1}n^{2}n^{3}}{4} + \frac{(n)^{2}n^{1}n^{2}n^{3}}{3}.$$
(5.30)

The symmetry algebra underlying the MSW CFT admits an SU(2) spectral flow

$$J \to J + \eta, \qquad L_0 \to L_0 + \frac{1}{2n^1 n^2 n^3} \eta J + \frac{1}{4n^1 n^2 n^3} \eta^2,$$
 (5.31)

⁶There is a curious feature that $L_0 + \bar{L}_0 = \frac{1}{6}n^2n^1n^2n^3 + \Delta M$, where ΔM is the ADM energy obtained by subtracting the contribution from the M5 branes: $\Delta M = M_{ADM} - M_{M5}$. This is unlike the solutions in [30] where the CFT energy is equal to the corresponding ΔM .

| Study | SU(2) spectral flow | U(1) spectral flow |
|---------------------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| Bena and Kraus [44] | 1 | 1 |
| Saxena, Potvin, Giusto, and Peet [48] | 1 | n |
| Giusto, Ross, and Saxena [31] | n | n |
| Ross and Al-Alawi [32] | n | $m, m \neq n$ |

Table 1. An overview of the literature studying microstates of the (4,0) D1-D5-KK system.

and three U(1) spectral flows [40, 46]

$$J_I \to J_I + \eta_I, \qquad L_0 \to L_0 + 2(D^+)^{IJ} \eta_I J_J + (D^+)^{IJ} \eta_I \eta_J,$$
 (5.32)

$$\bar{L}_0 \to \bar{L}_0 - 2(D^-)^{IJ} \eta_I J_J - (D^-)^{IJ} \eta_I \eta_J.$$
 (5.33)

For our solution the only non-trivial currents are

$$J_1 = nn^2 n^3, \qquad J = nn^1 n^2 n^3. \tag{5.34}$$

Therefore, our decoupled solution is related to global $AdS_3 \times S^2$ by spectral flows through parameters

$$\eta_1 = nn^2 n^3, \qquad \eta = nn^1 n^2 n^3.$$
 (5.35)

From this we also conclude that for our decoupled solution the spectral flow invariant weights receive contributions only from the gravitational sector.

6 Discussion

In this paper we have constructed a discrete family of non-supersymmetric microstates of the MSW system. It is quite non-trivial that we are able to find such smooth microstates. Our microstates are smooth in five-dimensions and have AdS_3 cores. This is different from all previously known non-supersymmetric microstates, which are smooth only in six dimensions.

There are several papers that study smooth solutions for the (4, 0) D1-D5-KK system. Since this system is closely related to the MSW system, in table 1 we attempt to give an overview of this literature. We only focus on solutions that have near core AdS₃ regions, and classify them by the amount of spectral flows the near core region exhibits. Given the relation of this system to the MSW system via string dualities, we expect a general such solution to have four integer parameters in the STU model: one for the left SU(2) spectral flow and *three* for the U(1) spectral flows. It is a challenging exercise to explicitly construct this configuration.⁷

There are several ways in which our study can be extended. The first and perhaps the most interesting such extension would be to obtain a more detailed microscopic understanding of the above discussed microstates, in particular to understand why ΔM and $L_0 + \bar{L}_0$ do

⁷In the MSW CFT the SU(2) spectral flow acts on the left sector but the U(1) spectral flows act on both the left and the right sectors [40, 47].

not match, cf footnote 6. It will also be useful to understand which subclass of our geometries admit the appropriate spin structure so that they can truly be thought of as excited states in the Ramond sector of the CFT. We expect a non-trivial answer to this question because naively we expect that only for odd values of the integer n the dual CFT would be in the Ramond sector. Our bosonic supergravity analysis does not capture this physics.

One of the most interesting properties of the JMaRT solution [30] is that it has an ergoregion. Horizonless geometries with an ergoregion are excepted to be generically unstable [49]. Therefore it is clearly of interest to study the presence of ergoregions for our solution. For the six-dimensional version of the solution such a study is complicated [31]. For the five-dimensional solution studied in this paper it is more manageable. However, using intuition from the results for the JMaRT solution [43], we expect spontaneous emission of M2 branes to be the most relevant for our set-up. To study spontaneous emission of M2 branes one effectively needs to study the ergoregion in six dimensions, which remains an important open problem.

A different five-dimensional as well as other dimensionally reduced versions of the JMaRT solution were studied in [50]. It was found that the five-dimensional version of the solution is smooth except at two points where there are non-supersymmetric orbifold singularities. Their study is similar to ours with one notable difference that in their study, dimensional reduction from 6d to 5d is done over z_5 as opposed to z_6 .⁸ Extrapolating the results of [50] to the six-dimensional GRS configuration, we do not expect to obtain a smooth solution upon dimensional reduction over z_5 . We expect the presence of non-supersymmetric orbifold singularities in the spacetime. On the other hand, in this paper we have shown that upon dimensional reduction over z_6 we do obtain a smooth solution. If we do further dimensional reductions, say to four or to three dimensions, we anticipate that the details of the resulting geometries will be similar to the ones studied in [50].

Finally, it is clearly of interest to construct more general smooth solutions. The simplest such extensions are to add more M2 charges to the configuration considered in this paper. Using the SO(4,4) approach used in this paper this line of investigation is clearly within reach. However, to construct qualitatively different configurations, say, one that becomes in the BPS limit a three-centre Bena-Warner solution requires novel techniques. In this regard the inverse scattering method recently developed for STU supergravity [51, 52] is the most promising. We hope to report on some of these issues in our future work.

Acknowledgments

We have benefited from discussions with Iosif Bena, Stefano Giusto, Samir Mathur, Simon Ross, Ashoke Sen and Yogesh Srivastava. AV would like to thank in particular Simon Ross for many patient explanations on reference [31]. AV would also like to thank AEI Golm and IMSc Chennai for their warm hospitality where part of this work was done. BV acknowledges support from the European Union through the Marie Curie Intra-European fellowship 328652-QM-sing and from the ERC Starting Independent Researcher Grant 240210-String-QCD-BH during the initial stages of this work. BV thanks the University of Groningen for

 $^{^{8}}$ We thank Simon Ross for pointing this out to us.

warm hospitality during the final stages of this work. SB thanks IOP Bhubaneswar and University of Amsterdam for their warm hospitality where part of this work was done.

A Construction of supergravity configuration

In this appendix we present a construction of the supergravity configuration in which we look for smooth microstates discussed in the main text. The construction below parallels that of Giusto, Ross, and Saxena (GRS) [31] in its overall logic, however the details are quite different. The key difference is that we use the three-dimensional dualities of the dimensionally reduced STU supergravity, whereas GRS use ten-dimensional S and T dualities. In particular, our specific approach is to use SO(4, 4) dualities applied to an appropriate "seed" solution. The SO(4, 4) approach offers a number of technical advantages. First, in our approach all dualities are implemented as group rotations, as opposed to the approach of GRS where only some dualities are implemented as group rotations and the rest as boosts and S- and T-dualities in 10 dimensions. Second, to implement S- and T-dualities in the GRS approach certain complicated Hodge dualizations are required at intermediate steps, the analogs of which are more systematically implemented in our approach.

A.1 Formalism briefly

Here we introduce our notation and present the set up we work with. For a more detailed discussion of these things in the same notation as below, we refer the reader to [53]. We reduce to three dimensions in steps, giving special attention to five and six dimensions.

Recall that a well known truncation of IIB supergravity on a T^4 is

$$ds_{10,\,\text{string}}^2 = ds_6^2 + e^{\frac{\Phi}{\sqrt{2}}} ds_4^2, \qquad \Phi_{10} = \frac{\Phi}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad C_{[2]}^{\text{RR}} = C_{[2]},$$
(A.1)

where ds_4^2 is the flat metric on T⁴ and $C_{[2]}^{RR}$ is the Ramond-Ramond two-form. The truncated Lagrangian becomes

$$\mathcal{L}_6 = R_6 \star_6 1 - \frac{1}{2} \star_6 d\Phi \wedge d\Phi - \frac{1}{2} e^{\sqrt{2}\Phi} \star_6 F_{[3]} \wedge F_{[3]}, \tag{A.2}$$

with the field strength $F_{[3]} = dC_{[2]}$. Upon further dimensional reduction on a circle, the six-dimensional theory (A.2) reduces to the U(1)³ supergravity in 5d. This dimensional reduction proceeds as follows

$$ds_6^2 = e^{-\sqrt{\frac{3}{2}\Psi}} (dz_6 + A_{[1]}^1)^2 + e^{\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\Psi} ds_5^2$$
(A.3)

$$F_{[3]} = F_{[3]}^{(5d)} + dA_{[1]}^2 \wedge (dz + A_{[1]}^1)$$
(A.4)

with

$$F_{[3]}^{(5d)} = dC_{[2]}^{(5d)} - dA_{[1]}^2 \wedge A_{[1]}^1.$$
(A.5)

After dualization of the 5d 2-form $C_{[2]}^{(5d)}$ into a one-form $A_{[1]}^3$ we get the Lagrangian of the five-dimensional U(1)³ supergravity. Details of this construction can be found in for example appendix A of [53]. It takes the form

$$\mathcal{L}_5 = R_5 \star_5 1 - \frac{1}{2} \star_5 d\Phi \wedge d\Phi - \frac{1}{2} \star_5 d\Psi \wedge d\Psi$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}e^{-2\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\Psi} \star_5 F_{[2]}^1 \wedge F_{[2]}^1 - \frac{1}{2}e^{\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\Psi + \sqrt{2}\Phi} \star_5 F_{[2]}^2 \wedge F_{[2]}^2 -\frac{1}{2}e^{\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\Psi - \sqrt{2}\Phi} \star_5 F_{[2]}^3 \wedge F_{[2]}^3 + A_{[1]}^3 \wedge F_{[2]}^2 \wedge F_{[2]}^1,$$
(A.6)

where the $U(1)^3$ supergravity scalars are parameterized as

$$h^{1} = e^{\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\Psi}, \quad h^{2} = e^{-\sqrt{\frac{1}{6}}\Psi - \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi}, \quad h^{3} = e^{-\sqrt{\frac{1}{6}}\Psi + \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}\Phi}.$$
 (A.7)

Evidently $h^1h^2h^3 = 1$. A manifestly triality invariant form for the 5d Lagrangian can also be readily written. The 6d field strength $F_{[3]}$ in terms of the 5d fields introduced above is:

$$F_{[3]} = -(h^3)^{-2} \star_5 dA^3_{[1]} + dA^2_{[1]} \wedge (dz_6 + A^1_{[1]}).$$
(A.8)

Upon further dimensional reduction to four dimensions via the ansatz

$$ds_5^2 = f^2 (dz + \check{A}^0_{[1]})^2 + f^{-1} ds_4^2, \tag{A.9}$$

$$A_{[1]}^{I} = \chi^{I}(dz + \check{A}_{[1]}^{0}) + \check{A}_{[1]}^{I}, \qquad (A.10)$$

we get the $\mathcal{N} = 2$ STU model. For the STU model the number of vector-multiplets is three and the prepotential is

$$F(X) = -\frac{X^1 X^2 X^3}{X^0}.$$
 (A.11)

We use the gauge fixing condition $X^0 = 1$. The scalars χ^I obtained from equation (A.10) and h^I from equation (A.7) together form the complex scalars $z^I = X^I/X^0$ of the STU theory as

$$z^{I} = -\chi^{I} + ifh^{I} \equiv x^{I} + iy^{I}.$$
(A.12)

Further dimensional reduction over time gives an $SO(4,4)/(SO(2,2) \times SO(2,2))$ coset model. To this end we parameterize our 4d metric as

$$ds_4^2 = -e^{2U}(dt + \omega_3)^2 + e^{-2U}ds_3^2,$$
(A.13)

and 4d vectors as

$$\check{A}^{\Lambda}_{[1]} = \zeta^{\Lambda}(dt + \omega_3) + A^{\Lambda}_3, \qquad (A.14)$$

where ω_3 and A_3^{Λ} are 1-forms in 3d. We dualize the 1-forms as [54, 55]

$$-d\tilde{\zeta}_{\Lambda} = e^{2U}(\mathrm{Im}N)_{\Lambda\Sigma} \star_3 (dA_3{}^{\Sigma} + \zeta^{\Sigma}d\omega_3) + (\mathrm{Re}N)_{\Lambda\Sigma}d\zeta^{\Sigma}$$
(A.15)

and

$$-d\sigma = 2e^{4U} \star_3 d\omega_3 - \zeta^{\Lambda} d\tilde{\zeta}_{\Lambda} + \tilde{\zeta}^{\Lambda} d\zeta_{\Lambda}.$$
(A.16)

From equations (A.15) and (A.16) it follows that $\tilde{\zeta}_{\Lambda}$ and σ are pseudo-scalars dual to A_3^{Λ} and ω_3 respectively. Putting together various pieces from above, we see that there are in total sixteen three-dimensional scalars

$$\varphi^a = \{U, z^I, \bar{z}^I, \zeta^\Lambda, \tilde{\zeta}_\Lambda, \sigma\}.$$
(A.17)

These scalars parameterize an $SO(4, 4)/(SO(2, 2) \times SO(2, 2))$ coset model. The Lagrangian in three dimensions is

$$\mathcal{L}_3 = R \star_3 \mathbf{1} - \frac{1}{2} G_{ab} \partial \varphi^a \partial \varphi^b, \qquad (A.18)$$

where G_{ab} is the bi-invariant metric of signature (8,8) on the coset SO(4,4)/(SO(2,2) × SO(2,2)). The metric G_{ab} is an analytic continuation of the Ferrara-Sabharwal c-map [56]. Certain details on the parametrization of G_{ab} are collected in appendix B.1.

To construct the supergravity configuration we are interested in, we use the solution generating technique based on the above obtained $SO(4,4)/(SO(2,2) \times SO(2,2))$ coset model. We start with a six-dimensional seed solution and dimensionally reduce is to three dimensions. The 4d to 3d reduction is done over the time direction. We then act on the seed scalars with an appropriate SO(4,4) group element. After this group rotation, we obtain a new set of scalars, which can be uplifted to obtain a new solution of the higher-dimensional theory.

A.2 Giusto, Ross, and Saxena (GRS) configuration

In this subsection we present the five-dimensional version of the Giusto, Ross, and Saxena (GRS) six-dimensional configuration [31]. In section 2 we listed all functions appearing in the metric and the matter fields explicitly.

A.2.1 Seed configuration

As in section 2 of GRS, we first obtain an appropriate seed solution. We reproduce the seed using our SO(4,4) approach. Once the seed is obtained adding charges (following section 3 of GRS) is relatively straightforward in the SO(4,4) formalism, which we implement in the following. The simplicity of adding charges is one of the key technical advantages our approach offers.

To obtain the seed solution we will use various inputs from references [57, 58] as well. The seed solution carries Kaluza-Klein (KK) electric and magnetic charges. In fact, it is a simple analytic continuation [31] in the parameter space of the Rasheed-Larsen [57, 58] solution.

Starting metric and starting scalars. The starting metric we use is the same as that of GRS in six dimensions

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + dz_{5}^{2} + \frac{F}{\rho^{2} - (m - bx)^{2}} \left(dz_{6} - \frac{2m\Delta(m - bx)}{bF} d\phi \right)^{2} + (\rho^{2} - (m - bx)^{2}) \left[\frac{d\rho^{2}}{\Delta} + \frac{dx^{2}}{1 - x^{2}} + \frac{\Delta}{F} (1 - x^{2}) d\phi^{2} \right],$$
(A.19)

where

$$F = \rho^2 + m^2 - b^2 x^2, \qquad \Delta = \rho^2 + m^2 - b^2.$$
 (A.20)

This is the metric of a Kerr-Bolt instanton trivially lifted to six dimensions by adding two flat directions: t and z_5 . For calculational simplicity we use x instead of the polar coordinate θ , the two are related by $x = \cos \theta$. Furthermore, as the names suggest, we use the coordinate z_6 to reduce from 6d to 5d, the coordinate z_5 to reduce from 5d to 4d and finally the time coordinate t to reduce from 4d to 3d. The three-dimensional base metric for the starting solution is

$$ds_3^2 = \frac{F}{\Delta}d\rho^2 + \frac{F}{1-x^2}dx^2 + (1-x^2)\Delta d\phi^2,$$
 (A.21)

and the non-zero three-dimensional scalars are

$$U = \frac{1}{4} \log \left[\frac{F}{\rho^2 - (m - bx)^2} \right],$$
 (A.22)

$$\tilde{\zeta}^1 = -\frac{2m\rho}{\rho^2 - (m - bx)^2},\tag{A.23}$$

$$y_1 = \frac{1}{y_2} = \frac{1}{y_3} = \left[\frac{\rho^2 - (m - bx)^2}{F}\right]^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (A.24)

Given these scalars we construct the SO(4,4) valued matrix \mathcal{M} corresponding to the starting solution. The general construction of this matrix is described in appendix B.1. For the starting solution it takes the form

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{f} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & g \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \tilde{f} & -g & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & g & \tilde{f} - \frac{2bgx}{\rho} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -g & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \tilde{f} - \frac{2bgx}{\rho} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.25)

where we have introduced notation

$$\tilde{f} = 1 - \frac{2m(m-bx)}{m^2 - b^2 x^2 + \rho^2}, \qquad g = \frac{2m\rho}{m^2 - b^2 x^2 + \rho^2}.$$
 (A.26)

This matrix is similar to the corresponding SO(3,3) matrix used in [58] and it is also similar to the matrix χ used in [31]. The formalisms are however different as they are based on different higher dimensional Lagrangians.

Group rotation. Motivated by the analysis of [57, 58] we act with the following group element on the above matrix \mathcal{M} ,

$$g_G = \exp(\alpha K_{q_1}) \exp(-\beta K_{p_1}) \exp(-\gamma K_0), \qquad (A.27)$$

as

$$\mathcal{M}' = g_G^{\sharp} \mathcal{M} g_G, \tag{A.28}$$

where g_G^{\sharp} is simply g_G^{-1} in this case (see appendix B.1). As the name of these generators suggest K_{q_1} generates one electric charge (an M2 charge from the M-theory perspective) and K_{p^1} generates one magnetic charge (M5 charge), and K_0 generates the 4d Lorentzian NUT charge. The necessity of acting with K_0 lies in the fact that the group element

$$\exp(\alpha K_{q_1})\exp(-\beta K_{p_1})$$

in addition to generating electric and magnetic charges also generates a 4d NUT charge, which can be cancelled by appropriately acting with

$$\exp(-\gamma K_0)$$

To achieve this cancellation of the NUT charge we use the relation [31, 57]

$$\tanh \alpha = \sinh \beta \tan 2\gamma. \tag{A.29}$$

As a next step, we change variables similar to the ones introduced in [58]

$$\tan\gamma = \sqrt{\frac{p}{q}} \tag{A.30}$$

$$\sqrt{p^2 + q^2 - 2pq\cosh 2\beta} = m\sinh 2\beta. \tag{A.31}$$

The second of these equations is a bit unwieldy. We note that it can also be written in the following (more useful) form

$$e^{2\beta} = \frac{(\sqrt{p^2 + m^2} - p)(\sqrt{q^2 + m^2} + q)}{m^2}.$$
 (A.32)

Substituting p and q in place of β and γ in the matrix \mathcal{M} is a somewhat tedious exercise. In the end we obtain an 8 × 8 matrix from which we can read various 3d scalars.

Three dimensional fields: seed metric. The non-zero three-dimensional scalars for the seed solution take the following form,

$$y_1 = \frac{1}{y_2} = \frac{1}{y_3} = \sqrt{\frac{T_1}{T_2}},\tag{A.33}$$

$$\zeta^{1} = \frac{2\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}(m\sqrt{q^{2}+m^{2}(p+\rho)}-bq\sqrt{p^{2}+m^{2}x})}{T_{2}},$$
(A.34)

$$\tilde{\zeta}_1 = -\frac{2\sqrt{p}\sqrt{p+q}(bp\sqrt{q^2+m^2}x + m\sqrt{p^2+m^2}(q+\rho))}{T_1},$$
(A.35)

$$e^{2U} = \frac{m(p+q)F}{\sqrt{T_1T_2}},$$
 (A.36)

$$\sigma = \frac{4\sqrt{pq}}{T_1T_2} \Big\{ m^2(p-q)\sqrt{(p^2+m^2)(q^2+m^2)} \left(-m^2+q\rho+p(q+\rho) \right) \\ + mbx(p+q) \left(m^4 + \left(p^2 + (q+\rho)p + q^2 + \rho^2 + q\rho \right) m^2 - pq\rho(p+q+\rho) \right) \\ + b^2x^2(p-q) \left(m^2 - pq \right) \sqrt{(p^2+m^2)(q^2+m^2)} \\ + mb^3x^3(p+q) \left(pq - m^2 \right) \Big\},$$
(A.37)

where

$$T_{1} = (q-p)m^{3} + (2qp^{2} - b^{2}x^{2}p + 2(p+q)\rho p - b^{2}qx^{2} + (p+q)\rho^{2})m + 2bp\sqrt{(p^{2} + m^{2})(q^{2} + m^{2})}x,$$
(A.38)

$$T_{2} = (p-q)m^{3} + (2pq^{2} - b^{2}x^{2}q + 2(p+q)\rho q - b^{2}px^{2} + (p+q)\rho^{2})m$$

$$-2bq\sqrt{(p^{2} + m^{2})(q^{2} + m^{2})}x.$$
 (A.39)

Final 5d fields. Now that we have all scalars we can write the final five-dimensional solution by dualizing the appropriate scalars into one forms. For this solution we need to do only two such dualizations. We get

$$\omega_3 = -\frac{2b\sqrt{p}\sqrt{q}\left(1-x^2\right)\left(m^2(p+q+\rho)-pq\rho\right)}{m(p+q)\left(m^2-b^2x^2+\rho^2\right)}d\phi,$$
(A.40)

and

$$A_3^1 = \frac{2\sqrt{p}}{\sqrt{p+qF}} \left[\sqrt{p^2 + m^2} \Delta x - \frac{b\sqrt{q^2 + m^2}}{m} (\rho p - m^2)(1 - x^2) \right] d\phi.$$
(A.41)

We can lift these 3d fields to 4d fields using (A.13) and (A.14). The 4d vector $\check{A}^1_{[1]}$ are

$$\check{A}^{1}_{[1]} = \zeta^{1}(dt + \omega_{3}) + A^{1}_{3} = \zeta^{1}dt + (\zeta^{1}\omega_{3\phi} + A^{1}_{3\phi})d\phi.$$
(A.42)

The function f required in going from 4d to 5d is $f = \left(\frac{T_2}{T_1}\right)^{\frac{1}{6}}$. As a result the 5d metric is

$$ds_{5}^{2} = f^{2}dz_{5}^{2} + f^{-1}ds_{4}^{2},$$

$$= \left(\frac{T_{2}}{T_{1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}}dz_{5}^{2} + \left(\frac{T_{1}}{T_{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{6}} \left[-\frac{m(p+q)F}{\sqrt{T_{1}T_{2}}}(dt + \omega_{\phi}d\phi)^{2} + \frac{\sqrt{T_{1}T_{2}}}{m(p+q)F}ds_{3}^{2}\right],$$

$$= T_{1}^{-1/3}T_{2}^{1/3}dz_{5}^{2} - T_{1}^{-1/3}T_{2}^{-2/3}(m(p+q)F)(dt + \omega_{\phi}d\phi)^{2}$$

$$+ \frac{T_{1}^{2/3}T_{2}^{1/3}}{m(p+q)}\left(\frac{d\rho^{2}}{\Delta} + \frac{dx^{2}}{1-x^{2}} + (1-x^{2})\frac{\Delta}{F}d\phi^{2}\right).$$
(A.43)

The 5d vectors are

$$A_{[1]}^{1} = \zeta^{1} dt + (\zeta^{1} \omega_{3\phi} + A_{3\phi}^{1}) d\phi, \qquad A_{[1]}^{2} = 0 \qquad A_{[1]}^{3} = 0, \qquad (A.44)$$

and the 5d scalars are

$$h_1 = T_1^{2/3} T_2^{-2/3}, \qquad h_2 = T_1^{-1/3} T_2^{1/3}, \qquad h_3 = T_1^{-1/3} T_2^{1/3}.$$
 (A.45)

6d lift and comparison with GRS. The 6d lift is therefore

$$ds_6^2 = e^{-\sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}\Psi} (dz_6 + A_{[1]}^1)^2 + e^{\frac{1}{\sqrt{6}}\Psi} ds_5^2, \tag{A.46}$$

$$= \frac{T_2}{T_1} (dz_6 + A_{[1]}^1)^2 + T_1^{1/3} T_2^{-1/3} ds_5^2,$$
(A.47)

$$= \frac{T_2}{T_1} (dz_6 + \zeta^1 dt + (\zeta^1 \omega_{3\phi} + A_{3\phi}^1) d\phi)^2 + dz_5^2 - \frac{(m(p+q)F)}{T_2} (dt + \omega_\phi d\phi)^2 + \frac{T_1}{m(p+q)} \left(\frac{d\rho^2}{\Delta} + \frac{dx^2}{1-x^2} + (1-x^2)\frac{\Delta}{F} d\phi^2\right),$$
(A.48)

and the three-form $F_{[3]}$ is identically zero. We are now in position to compare this metric with the GRS seed metric [31]. The two metrics are *exactly* the same. A dictionary between our notation and the notation of GRS is as follows (left-hand side is our notation and the right-hand side is GRS notation)

$$\frac{T_1}{n(p+q)} = A,\tag{A.49}$$

$$\frac{T_2}{m(p+q)} = B,\tag{A.50}$$

$$\omega_3 = \omega^0, \tag{A.51}$$

$$F = f_{\text{GRS}}^2, \tag{A.52}$$

$$\zeta^1 = \frac{C}{B},\tag{A.53}$$

$$A_3^1 = \omega^1. \tag{A.54}$$

Change of gauge. Before we proceed to adding charges, we take care of one more technicality at this stage. This is a constant shift in the value of σ . This change of gauge is implemented in section 3.2 of reference [31]. Constant shifts in σ are implemented by the SO(4,4) generator E_0 . We act on the previously obtained matrix \mathcal{M} with

$$g_G = \exp\left[-\alpha E_0\right],\tag{A.55}$$

which amounts of simply shifting σ to $\sigma + 2\alpha$. Since V_0 in reference [31] corresponds to the following combination of scalars in our approach

$$V_0 = \frac{1}{2} (\sigma + \zeta^1 \tilde{\zeta}^1),$$
 (A.56)

the shift in σ is equivalent to a shift in V_0 ,

$$V_0 \to V_0 + \alpha. \tag{A.57}$$

We choose

$$\alpha = -\sqrt{\frac{q(q^2 + m^2)}{p(p^2 + m^2)}}.$$
(A.58)

As a result the new expression for V_0 becomes

$$V_0 = -\frac{1}{A} \sqrt{\frac{q(q^2 + m^2)}{p(p^2 + m^2)}} \left[F + 2p \left(\rho + p + \frac{qb}{m} \sqrt{\frac{p^2 + m^2}{q^2 + m^2}} x \right) \right],$$
 (A.59)

and the rest of the 3d scalars remain unchanged.

For the study of asymptotic properties of the five-dimensional metric written in the main text, it is useful to first 'undo' this gauge transformation and then do asymptotic expansions.

A.2.2 Adding magnetic charges

Now we add two further magnetic charges on the seed solution. We act on the previously obtained matrix \mathcal{M} with the group element

$$g = \exp(\alpha_2 K_{p^2}) \exp(\alpha_3 K_{p^3}), \tag{A.60}$$

to obtain the matrix \mathcal{M} for the final configuration. To avoid notational clutter we use

 $s_2 = \sinh \alpha_2, \qquad s_3 = \sinh \alpha_3, \qquad c_2 = \cosh \alpha_2, \qquad c_3 = \cosh \alpha_3. \tag{A.61}$

To write the final configuration, we need to introduce some more notation. For the ease of comparing with [31] we mostly use their notation in the following. Most of the quantities are already introduced above. Let us further define

$$D = Bc_2^2c_3^2 - F(c_2^2s_3^2 + s_2^2c_3^2) + \frac{F^2}{B}s_2^2s_3^2 - \frac{C^2F}{AB}s_2^2s_3^2,$$
(A.62)

$$G = \frac{AF - C^2}{B},\tag{A.63}$$

$$\tilde{H}_{2,3} = A + (A - G)s_{2,3}^2. \tag{A.64}$$

Using judiciously the previous notation we can write all the resulting three-dimensional scalars as follows.

Three-dimensional fields. The names σ_{seed} , ζ^{1}_{seed} , $\tilde{\zeta}^{1}_{\text{seed}}$ refer to the expressions for σ , ζ^{1} , and $\tilde{\zeta}^{1}$ reported in the previous subsection for the seed solution. We have

$$x_1 = \frac{As_2 s_3 V_0}{D + As_2^2 s_3^2 V_0^2}, \qquad x_2 = c_2 s_3 \frac{C}{\tilde{H}_3}, \qquad x_3 = c_3 s_2 \frac{C}{\tilde{H}_2}, \qquad (A.65)$$

$$y_1 = \frac{\sqrt{AD}}{D + As_2^2 s_3^2 V_0^2}, \qquad y_2 = \frac{\sqrt{AD}}{\tilde{H}_3}, \qquad y_3 = \frac{\sqrt{AD}}{\tilde{H}_2},$$
(A.66)

$$c_2 c_3 s_2 s_3 \frac{CV_0}{D}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{\zeta}^0 = -s_2 s_3 \frac{CF}{AD}, \qquad (A.67)$$

$$\zeta_1 = c_2 c_3 \frac{C}{D}, \qquad \qquad \tilde{\zeta}^1 = \tilde{\zeta}_{\text{seed}}^1 + s_2^2 s_3^2 \frac{CFV_0}{AD}, \qquad (A.68)$$

$$\zeta_2 = s_2 c_3 (Bc_2^2 - Fs_2^2) \frac{V_0}{D}, \quad \tilde{\zeta}_2 = -\frac{c_2 s_2}{ABD} (-C^2 Fs_3^2 + A(B - \tilde{F})(Bc_3^2 - Fs_3^2)), \quad (A.69)$$

$$\zeta_3 = s_3 c_2 (Bc_3^2 - Fs_3^2) \frac{V_0}{D}, \quad \tilde{\zeta}_3 = -\frac{c_3 s_3}{ABD} (-C^2 Fs_2^2 + A(B - \tilde{F})(Bc_2^2 - Fs_2^2)), \quad (A.70)$$

and

 $\zeta_0 =$

$$e^{2U} = \frac{F}{\sqrt{AD}}, \qquad \sigma = \frac{ABc_2c_3((B-F)(s_2^2 + s_3^2)V_0 + B\sigma_{\text{seed}})}{A(Bc_2^2 - Fs_2^2)(Bc_3^2 - Fs_3^2) - C^2Fs_2^2s_3^2}.$$
 (A.71)

As a next step we need to dualize pseudo-scalars $\tilde{\zeta}^{\Lambda}$ and σ into 1-forms.

Dualizations. Implementing dualizations of the five scalars σ and $\tilde{\zeta}^{\Lambda}$ is somewhat tedious. Here we give the final results:

$$\omega_3 = c_2 c_3 \omega_3^{\text{old}} \tag{A.72}$$

$$\equiv c_2 c_3 \omega^0 \tag{A.73}$$

$$A_3^0 = \frac{2b\sqrt{q}\sqrt{p+q}}{m\sqrt{m^2 + p^2}F} s_2 s_3 \left((p-q+\rho)m^2 + pq\rho\right) \left(1-x^2\right) d\phi \tag{A.74}$$

$$\equiv s_2 s_3 \kappa_0^1 \tag{A.75}$$

$$A_{3}^{1} = \frac{2\sqrt{p}}{\sqrt{p+qF}} \left[\sqrt{m^{2}+p^{2}} \Delta x - \frac{b\sqrt{m^{2}+q^{2}}}{m} (1-x^{2})(p\rho-m^{2}) \right] d\phi$$

$$\equiv \omega^{1}$$
(A.76)

$$A_3^2 = \frac{2}{F} qs_2 c_2 \left[\Delta x + \sqrt{\frac{q^2 + m^2}{p^2 + m^2}} \frac{b}{m} (p\rho - m^2) (1 - x^2) \right]$$

$$\equiv -s_2 c_2 \kappa_0^0 \tag{A.77}$$

$$A_3^3 = -s_3 c_3 \kappa_0^0 \tag{A.78}$$

where ω^0 , κ_0^1 , ω^1 , and κ_0^0 are the same as in equations (2.49), (3.51), (2.50), and (3.52) respectively of [31], and ω_3^{old} is the same as ω_3 of the solution obtained in the previous subsection. Thus we have successfully obtained all three-dimensional fields to describe it as a solution of 5d U(1)³ supergravity. In section 2 we listed all the five-dimensional fields.

B $SO(4,4)/(SO(2,2) \times SO(2,2))$ coset in three dimensions

B.1 Parametrization

The metric G_{ab} in equation (A.18) in our conventions is

$$G_{ab}d\varphi^{a}d\varphi^{b} = 4dU^{2} + 4g_{I\bar{J}}dz^{I}dz^{\bar{J}} + \frac{1}{4}e^{-4U}\left(d\sigma + \tilde{\zeta}_{\Lambda}d\zeta^{\Lambda} - \zeta^{\Lambda}d\tilde{\zeta}_{\Lambda}\right)^{2}$$
(B.1)
+ $e^{-2U}\left[(\mathrm{Im}N)_{\Lambda\Sigma}d\zeta^{\Lambda}d\zeta^{\Sigma} + ((\mathrm{Im}N)^{-1})^{\Lambda\Sigma}\left(d\tilde{\zeta}_{\Lambda} + (\mathrm{Re}N)_{\Lambda\Xi}d\zeta^{\Xi}\right)\left(d\tilde{\zeta}_{\Sigma} + (\mathrm{Re}N)_{\Sigma\Xi}d\zeta^{\Xi}\right)\right].$

This metric can be parameterized in the Iwasawa gauge by a coset element \mathcal{V} of $SO(4,4)/(SO(2,2) \times SO(2,2))$ as [55]

$$\mathcal{V} = e^{-UH_0} \cdot \left(\prod_{I=1,2,3} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(\log y^I)H_I} \cdot e^{-x^I E_I}\right) \cdot e^{-\zeta^{\Lambda} E_{q_{\Lambda}} - \tilde{\zeta}_{\Lambda} E_{p^{\Lambda}}} \cdot e^{-\frac{1}{2}\sigma E_0}.$$
 (B.2)

To see this, note that metric (B.1) can also be obtained as

$$G_{ab}d\varphi^a d\varphi^b = \operatorname{Tr}(P_* P_*) \tag{B.3}$$

where

$$P_* = \frac{1}{2} (\theta + \eta' \theta^T {\eta'}^{-1}), \quad \eta' = \text{diag}(-1, -1, 1, 1, -1, -1, 1, 1).$$
(B.4)

Here η' is the quadratic form preserved by SO(2,2)×SO(2,2) (in our basis), and $\theta = d\mathcal{V}\cdot\mathcal{V}^{-1}$ is the Mauer-Cartan 1-form.

Next we define the matrix \mathcal{M} as $\mathcal{M} = (\mathcal{V}^{\sharp})\mathcal{V}$. The operation \sharp refers to the generalized transposition,

$$\theta^{\sharp} = \eta' \theta^T \eta'^{-1}, \tag{B.5}$$

for any $\theta \in \mathfrak{so}(4,4)$.

Now we list an explicit matrix representation of $\mathfrak{so}(4,4)$. Denoting E_{ij} the 8×8 matrix with 1 in the position (i, j) and 0 elsewhere, the Lie algebra generators are

| $H_0 = E_{33} + E_{44} - E_{77} - E_{88}$ | $H_1 = E_{33} - E_{44} - E_{77} + E_{88}$ |
|---|---|
| $H_2 = E_{11} + E_{22} - E_{55} - E_{66}$ | $H_3 = E_{11} - E_{22} - E_{55} + E_{66}$ |
| $E_0 = E_{47} - E_{38}$ | $E_1 = E_{87} - E_{34}$ |
| $E_2 = E_{25} - E_{16}$ | $E_3 = E_{65} - E_{12}$ |
| $F_0 = E_{74} - E_{83}$ | $F_1 = E_{78} - E_{43}$ |
| $F_2 = E_{52} - E_{61}$ | $F_3 = E_{56} - E_{21}$ |
| $E_{q_0} = E_{41} - E_{58}$ | $E_{q_1} = E_{57} - E_{31}$ |
| $E_{q_2} = E_{46} - E_{28}$ | $E_{q_3} = E_{42} - E_{68}$ |
| $F_{q_0} = E_{14} - E_{85}$ | $F_{q_1} = E_{75} - E_{13}$ |
| $F_{q_2} = E_{64} - E_{82}$ | $F_{q_3} = E_{24} - E_{86}$ |
| $E_{p^0} = E_{17} - E_{35}$ | $E_{p^1} = E_{18} - E_{45}$ |
| $E_{p^2} = E_{67} - E_{32}$ | $E_{p^3} = E_{27} - E_{36}$ |
| $F_{p^0} = E_{71} - E_{53}$ | $F_{p^1} = E_{81} - E_{54}$ |
| $F_{p^2} = E_{76} - E_{23}$ | $F_{p^3} = E_{72} - E_{63}$ |

This basis is identical to the one given in [53, 55].

B.2 $SO(2,2) \times SO(2,2)$ generators

The involution of Lie algebra that defines the coset is simply

$$\tau(\theta) := -\theta^{\sharp}.\tag{B.6}$$

Lie algebra generators belonging to the denominator subgroup $SO(2, 2) \times SO(2, 2)$ are those which are invariant under the involution; their explicit form is $x + \tau(x)$. Such generators are

$$\begin{array}{ll}
K_{0} = E_{0} - F_{0} & K_{1} = E_{1} - F_{1} \\
K_{2} = E_{2} - F_{2} & K_{3} = E_{3} - F_{3} \\
\hline K_{q_{0}} = E_{q_{0}} + F_{q_{0}} & K_{q_{1}} = E_{q_{1}} + F_{q_{1}} \\
K_{q_{2}} = E_{q_{2}} + F_{q_{2}} & K_{q_{3}} = E_{q_{3}} + F_{q_{3}} \\
\hline K_{p^{0}} = E_{p^{0}} + F_{p^{0}} & K_{p^{1}} = E_{p^{1}} + F_{p^{1}} \\
K_{p^{2}} = E_{p^{2}} + F_{p^{2}} & K_{p^{3}} = E_{p^{3}} + F_{p^{3}}
\end{array}$$
(B.7)

To see that these generators form an $\mathfrak{so}(2,2) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(2,2) \equiv [\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})^4]$ Lie algebra, consider the following combinations of the above generators [52]

$$\begin{aligned} h_1 &= \frac{1}{2} (-K_{q_0} + K_{p^1} + K_{p^2} + K_{p^3}) \\ h_2 &= \frac{1}{2} (+K_{q_0} - K_{p^1} + K_{p^2} + K_{p^3}) \\ h_3 &= \frac{1}{2} (+K_{q_0} + K_{p^1} - K_{p^2} + K_{p^3}) \\ h_4 &= \frac{1}{2} (+K_{q_0} + K_{p^1} + K_{p^2} - K_{p^3}) \\ \hline e_1 &= \frac{1}{4} (-K_0 + K_1 + K_2 + K_3 + K_{q_1} - K_{q_2} - K_{q_3} + K_{p^0}) \\ e_2 &= \frac{1}{4} (+K_0 - K_1 + K_2 + K_3 - K_{q_1} - K_{q_2} - K_{q_3} + K_{p^0}) \\ e_3 &= \frac{1}{4} (+K_0 + K_1 - K_2 + K_3 - K_{q_1} - K_{q_2} + K_{q_3} + K_{p^0}) \\ e_4 &= \frac{1}{4} (+K_0 - K_1 - K_2 - K_3 + K_{q_1} - K_{q_2} + K_{q_3} + K_{p^0}) \\ f_1 &= \frac{1}{4} (-K_0 - K_1 - K_2 - K_3 + K_{q_1} - K_{q_2} - K_{q_3} + K_{p^0}) \\ f_3 &= \frac{1}{4} (-K_0 - K_1 - K_2 - K_3 - K_{q_1} - K_{q_2} - K_{q_3} + K_{p^0}) \\ f_4 &= \frac{1}{4} (-K_0 - K_1 - K_2 - K_3 - K_{q_1} - K_{q_2} - K_{q_3} + K_{p^0}) \\ \hline \end{aligned}$$

These linear combinations manifest the four commuting $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ s — (h_i, e_i, f_i) with commutation relations $[h_i, e_i] = 2e_i, [h_i, f_i] = -2f_i, [e_i, f_i] = h_i$.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] A. Sen, *Microscopic and macroscopic entropy of extremal black holes in string theory*, arXiv:1402.0109 [INSPIRE].
- [2] V. Balasubramanian, J. de Boer, E. Keski-Vakkuri and S.F. Ross, Supersymmetric conical defects: towards a string theoretic description of black hole formation, *Phys. Rev.* D 64 (2001) 064011 [hep-th/0011217] [INSPIRE].
- J.M. Maldacena and L. Maoz, Desingularization by rotation, JHEP 12 (2002) 055 [hep-th/0012025] [INSPIRE].
- [4] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, Metric of the multiply wound rotating string, Nucl. Phys. B 610 (2001) 49 [hep-th/0105136] [INSPIRE].
- [5] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, AdS/CFT duality and the black hole information paradox, Nucl. Phys. B 623 (2002) 342 [hep-th/0109154] [INSPIRE].
- [6] O. Lunin, S.D. Mathur and A. Saxena, What is the gravity dual of a chiral primary?, Nucl. Phys. B 655 (2003) 185 [hep-th/0211292] [INSPIRE].
- [7] M. Taylor, General 2 charge geometries, JHEP 03 (2006) 009 [hep-th/0507223] [INSPIRE].
- [8] K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Fuzzball solutions and D1-D5 microstates, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98 (2007) 071601 [hep-th/0609154] [INSPIRE].

- [9] I. Kanitscheider, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Fuzzballs with internal excitations, JHEP 06 (2007) 056 [arXiv:0704.0690] [INSPIRE].
- B.C. Palmer and D. Marolf, Counting supertubes, JHEP 06 (2004) 028 [hep-th/0403025]
 [INSPIRE].
- [11] V.S. Rychkov, D1-D5 black hole microstate counting from supergravity, JHEP 01 (2006) 063
 [hep-th/0512053] [INSPIRE].
- [12] D. Bak, Y. Hyakutake and N. Ohta, Phase moduli space of supertubes, Nucl. Phys. B 696 (2004) 251 [hep-th/0404104] [INSPIRE].
- [13] D. Bak, Y. Hyakutake, S. Kim and N. Ohta, A geometric look on the microstates of supertubes, Nucl. Phys. B 712 (2005) 115 [hep-th/0407253] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S. Giusto and S.D. Mathur, Fuzzball geometries and higher derivative corrections for extremal holes, Nucl. Phys. B 738 (2006) 48 [hep-th/0412133] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Sen, Two charge system revisited: small black holes or horizonless solutions?, JHEP 05 (2010) 097 [arXiv:0908.3402] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S.D. Mathur, A. Saxena and Y.K. Srivastava, Constructing 'hair' for the three charge hole, Nucl. Phys. B 680 (2004) 415 [hep-th/0311092] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Giusto, S.D. Mathur and A. Saxena, Dual geometries for a set of 3-charge microstates, Nucl. Phys. B 701 (2004) 357 [hep-th/0405017] [INSPIRE].
- [18] S. Giusto, S.D. Mathur and A. Saxena, 3-charge geometries and their CFT duals, Nucl. Phys. B 710 (2005) 425 [hep-th/0406103] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S. Giusto and S.D. Mathur, Geometry of D1-D5-P bound states, Nucl. Phys. B 729 (2005) 203 [hep-th/0409067] [INSPIRE].
- [20] I. Bena and N.P. Warner, Bubbling supertubes and foaming black holes, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 066001 [hep-th/0505166] [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Berglund, E.G. Gimon and T.S. Levi, Supergravity microstates for BPS black holes and black rings, JHEP 06 (2006) 007 [hep-th/0505167] [INSPIRE].
- [22] I. Bena, C.-W. Wang and N.P. Warner, The foaming three-charge black hole, Phys. Rev. D 75 (2007) 124026 [hep-th/0604110] [INSPIRE].
- [23] G.W. Gibbons and N.P. Warner, Global structure of five-dimensional BPS fuzzballs, Class. Quantum Grav. 31 (2014) 025016 [arXiv:1305.0957] [INSPIRE].
- [24] S.D. Mathur, The fuzzball proposal for black holes: an elementary review, Fortsch. Phys. 53 (2005) 793 [hep-th/0502050] [INSPIRE].
- [25] S.D. Mathur, The quantum structure of black holes, Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) R115 [hep-th/0510180] [INSPIRE].
- [26] V. Balasubramanian, E.G. Gimon and T.S. Levi, Four dimensional black hole microstates: from D-branes to spacetime foam, JHEP 01 (2008) 056 [hep-th/0606118] [INSPIRE].
- [27] I. Bena and N.P. Warner, Black holes, black rings and their microstates, Lect. Notes Phys. 755 (2008) 1 [hep-th/0701216] [INSPIRE].
- [28] B.D. Chowdhury and A. Virmani, *Modave lectures on fuzzballs and emission from the D1-D5* system, arXiv:1001.1444 [INSPIRE].

- [29] I. Bena and N.P. Warner, Resolving the structure of black holes: philosophizing with a hammer, arXiv:1311.4538 [INSPIRE].
- [30] V. Jejjala, O. Madden, S.F. Ross and G. Titchener, Non-supersymmetric smooth geometries and D1-D5-P bound states, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 124030 [hep-th/0504181] [INSPIRE].
- [31] S. Giusto, S.F. Ross and A. Saxena, Non-supersymmetric microstates of the D1-D5-KK system, JHEP 12 (2007) 065 [arXiv:0708.3845] [INSPIRE].
- [32] J.H. Al-Alawi and S.F. Ross, Spectral flow of the non-supersymmetric microstates of the D1-D5-KK system, JHEP 10 (2009) 082 [arXiv:0908.0417] [INSPIRE].
- [33] I. Bena, S. Giusto, C. Ruef and N.P. Warner, A (running) bolt for new reasons, JHEP 11 (2009) 089 [arXiv:0909.2559] [INSPIRE].
- [34] K. Goldstein and S. Katmadas, Almost BPS black holes, JHEP 05 (2009) 058
 [arXiv:0812.4183] [INSPIRE].
- [35] I. Bena, S. Giusto, C. Ruef and N.P. Warner, Multi-center non-BPS black holes: the solution, JHEP 11 (2009) 032 [arXiv:0908.2121] [INSPIRE].
- [36] I. Bena, G. Dall'Agata, S. Giusto, C. Ruef and N.P. Warner, Non-BPS black rings and black holes in Taub-NUT, JHEP 06 (2009) 015 [arXiv:0902.4526] [INSPIRE].
- [37] G. Dall'Agata, S. Giusto and C. Ruef, U-duality and non-BPS solutions, JHEP 02 (2011) 074 [arXiv:1012.4803] [INSPIRE].
- [38] G. Bossard and C. Ruef, Interacting non-BPS black holes, Gen. Rel. Grav. 44 (2012) 21 [arXiv:1106.5806] [INSPIRE].
- [39] G. Dall'Agata, Black holes in supergravity: flow equations and duality, Springer Proc. Phys. 142 (2013) 1 [arXiv:1106.2611] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J. de Boer, F. Denef, S. El-Showk, I. Messamah and D. Van den Bleeken, *Black hole bound* states in $AdS_3 \times S^2$, *JHEP* **11** (2008) 050 [arXiv:0802.2257] [INSPIRE].
- [41] J.M. Maldacena, A. Strominger and E. Witten, Black hole entropy in M-theory, JHEP 12 (1997) 002 [hep-th/9711053] [INSPIRE].
- [42] V. Cardoso, O.J.C. Dias, J.L. Hovdebo and R.C. Myers, Instability of non-supersymmetric smooth geometries, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 064031 [hep-th/0512277] [INSPIRE].
- [43] B.D. Chowdhury and S.D. Mathur, Radiation from the non-extremal fuzzball, Class. Quant. Grav. 25 (2008) 135005 [arXiv:0711.4817] [INSPIRE].
- [44] I. Bena and P. Kraus, Microstates of the D1-D5-KK system, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 025007 [hep-th/0503053] [INSPIRE].
- [45] R. Emparan and H.S. Reall, *Black rings, Class. Quant. Grav.* 23 (2006) R169
 [hep-th/0608012] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. de Boer, M.C.N. Cheng, R. Dijkgraaf, J. Manschot and E. Verlinde, A Farey tail for attractor black holes, JHEP 11 (2006) 024 [hep-th/0608059] [INSPIRE].
- [47] P. Kraus, Lectures on black holes and the AdS₃/CFT₂ correspondence, Lect. Notes Phys. 755 (2008) 193 [hep-th/0609074] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Saxena, G. Potvin, S. Giusto and A.W. Peet, Smooth geometries with four charges in four dimensions, JHEP 04 (2006) 010 [hep-th/0509214] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J. Friedman, Ergosphere instability, Commun. Math. Phys. 63 (1978) 243.

- [50] E.G. Gimon, T.S. Levi and S.F. Ross, Geometry of non-supersymmetric three-charge bound states, JHEP 08 (2007) 055 [arXiv:0705.1238] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D. Katsimpouri, A. Kleinschmidt and A. Virmani, Inverse scattering and the Geroch group, JHEP 02 (2013) 011 [arXiv:1211.3044] [INSPIRE].
- [52] D. Katsimpouri, A. Kleinschmidt and A. Virmani, An inverse scattering formalism for STU supergravity, JHEP 03 (2014) 101 [arXiv:1311.7018] [INSPIRE].
- [53] A. Virmani, Subtracted geometry from Harrison transformations, JHEP 07 (2012) 086 [arXiv:1203.5088] [INSPIRE].
- [54] D. Gaiotto, W. Li and M. Padi, Non-supersymmetric attractor flow in symmetric spaces, JHEP 12 (2007) 093 [arXiv:0710.1638] [INSPIRE].
- [55] G. Bossard, Y. Michel and B. Pioline, Extremal black holes, nilpotent orbits and the true fake superpotential, JHEP 01 (2010) 038 [arXiv:0908.1742] [INSPIRE].
- [56] S. Ferrara and S. Sabharwal, Quaternionic manifolds for type II superstring vacua of Calabi-Yau spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 332 (1990) 317 [INSPIRE].
- [57] D. Rasheed, The rotating dyonic black holes of Kaluza-Klein theory, Nucl. Phys. B 454 (1995) 379 [hep-th/9505038] [INSPIRE].
- [58] F. Larsen, Rotating Kaluza-Klein black holes, Nucl. Phys. B 575 (2000) 211
 [hep-th/9909102] [INSPIRE].